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Zurich Australia Limited is a Company limited by shares, incorporated in and domiciled in Australia. Its registered office 
and principal place of business is:  
 
118 Mount Street 
North Sydney 
NSW 2060 
 
A description of the nature of the Company’s operations and its principal activities is included in the Directors’ Report on 
pages 1 – 3. 
 
 
The annual report was authorised for issue by the directors on 23 March 2022. The directors have the power to amend and 
reissue the report.
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Directors’ Report 
 
Your directors present their report on Zurich Australia Limited (“the Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 
Corporate Information 
Zurich Australia Limited is a company limited by shares that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The parent 
entity in Australia is Zurich Financial Services Australia Limited ("ZFSA"). The ultimate parent entity is Zurich 
Insurance Company Limited ("Zurich Group") which is incorporated in Switzerland.  
 
Directors  
The following persons were directors of the Company during part or the whole of the financial year and up to the date of 
this report: 
 

Name Role Appointment date Resignation date 
Paul Bedbrook Director, Chairman 1 April 2012  
John Howell Director 31 October 2016 12 April 2021 
Nicolette Rubinsztein Director 31 May 2019  
Gabrielle Trainor Director 31 May 2019  
Gavin Pearce Director 31 May 2019 28 May 2021 
Justin Delaney Director 1 December 2019  
John Mulcahy Director 1 January 2020  
Tulsi Naidu Director 1 January 2022  
Geoffrey Summerhayes 
 

Director 17 January 2022  

    
    

The following persons were officers of the Company who held office during financial year 2021 and up to the date of 
this report: 

 
Name Role Appointment date Resignation date 
Cathy Manolios Secretary 11 June 2002  
Nicholas Woodforde Secretary 20 August 2012 30 April 2021 
Joong Harrison Secretary 1 June 2021  

 
 
Principal Activities  
The principal activities of the Company during the year were the provision of life insurance and funds management 
products and services. There was no significant change in the nature of the Company’s principal activities during the year. 
 
 
Results 
The profit after tax of the Company for the period ended 31 December 2021 was $75,883,000 (2020: $111,480,000). 
The main drivers of the movement in profit from current year compared to prior year were: 
 

 higher claims 
 higher operating expenses driven by a change in management expense allocation methodology during the year 
 lower investment income due to poor performance in bonds offset by better performance in equity investments 

during the year. 
 
 
Dividends and Capital Injection 
During the year, a $20,000,000 dividend was paid on ordinary shares (2020: nil paid). 
 
There was no capital injection from ZFSA to the Company during the year (2020: $67,000,000). In 2020, 33,500,000 
ordinary shares valued at $67,000,000 were issued. 
 
Significant Changes in the State of Affairs  

   There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company during the financial year. 
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Directors’ Report (continued) 
 
Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year  
No matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2021 that has significantly affected the Company’s operations, 
result or state of affairs, or expected to do so in future years. 
 
 
Likely Developments and Expected Results of Operations 
As part of the acquisition of OnePath Life Limited by the Zurich Group, a statutory asset transfer under Part 9 of the 
Life Insurance Act 1995 from OnePath Life limited to the Company is expected to occur in the second half of 2022, 
subject to regulatory and court approvals. 
 
Other than the above, the directors do not make any reference to likely developments and expected results at this time, 
apart from comments made elsewhere in this report, as such references could be prejudicial to the interests of 
policyholders and shareholders. Accordingly, this information has not been included in this report. 
 
Insurance of Officers 
The Directors' and Officers' Liability Insurance policy provides cover for directors and certain other officers of the 
Company against certain personal liabilities which they may incur in the performance of their duties as directors and 
officers, where those directors and officers acted in good faith. The insurance grants indemnity against liabilities 
permitted to be indemnified by the Company under the Corporations Act 2001. In accordance with common 
commercial practice, the insurance policy prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability insured against and the 
amount of the premium. 
 
 
Agreements to Indemnify  
The Company's Constitution permits the Company to indemnify the directors and officers of the Company to the extent 
permitted by law. It is also the policy of ZFSA, as the Australian parent company, that its employees should be 
protected from any liability for acting in the course of their employment legally, within the parent company's policies 
and provided they act in good faith. 
 
ZFSA have entered into an indemnity deed with current and former directors (as relevant) of the Company. A director 
who has entered into an indemnity deed with the respective parent company is indemnified, subject to the terms and 
conditions of the deed, for all liabilities including costs, damages and expenses incurred in his or her capacity as a 
director of the Company, to the extent permitted by law. 
 
Other than the indemnity deed between the parent company and current and former directors of the Company, the 
Company and any related body corporate has not made any agreement to indemnify any current or former officer or 
auditor (as relevant) of the Company from 1 January 2021 to the date of this report. 
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Directors’ Report (continued) 
 
Environmental Regulations 
Whilst the Company has assessed that there are no significant environmental regulations that apply to it, the Company is 
part of the Zurich Group which has the ambition to become one of the world’s most environmentally responsible and 
impactful businesses in the world.  
 
Zurich Group has intensified its focus on the UN Global Business Ambition Pledge to limit global temperature rise to 
1.5°C. Zurich Group has been embedding sustainability into every fibre of the Company and has been operating as a 
carbon-neutral business since 2014. In 2020, Zurich Group has become one of the first large institutional investors to 
prioritize the goals – rather than the monetary amount. The Dow Jones Sustainability Index (DJSI) named Zurich Group 
as No. 1 in the insurance industry for improving scores across all three components of the ranking: governance and 
economic, environmental, and social. This is a sign that Zurich Group’s long-term efforts are paying off. 
  
Zurich Australia & New Zealand established a local sustainability working group in 2021 in order to develop its own 
local strategy, while taking advantage of the strong support and lead from the Zurich Group. The first phase of the strategy 
has been to embed our foundations, which included activities such as establishing sustainability pages on both our intranet 
and external website, exceeding the targeted reduction of our operational emissions and benchmarking the carbon impact 
of our investments, as well as reviewing our current suite of sustainable products. 
 
As part of our local sustainability strategy we are aiming to engage and educate our customers and employees about 
sustainability and empower them to join us in our action against climate change. As part of this, we will be piloting a 
local reforestation project within our Life business that will lead to the regeneration of ecosystems and their native tree 
species in Australia.  
  
 
Proceedings on Behalf of the Company 
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on 
behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings. 
   
No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under section 237 
of the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
Rounding of Amounts to the Nearest Thousand Dollars 
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 
2016/191, relating to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the directors’ report. Amounts in the directors’ report have been 
rounded off in accordance with the instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar.  
 
 
Auditor 
Ernst & Young Australia (EY) replaces PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia in office in accordance with section 327 of 
the Corporations Act 2001. A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration, as required under section 307C of the 
Corporation Act 2001, is set out on page 4. 
 
 
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
___________________________________  ________________________________________ 
P J Bedbrook      N L Rubinsztein 
Chairman      Director 
 
 
Sydney 
23 March 2022 



 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

Ernst & Young 
200 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia 
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001 

 Tel: +61 2 9248 5555 
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959 
ey.com/au 

 

Auditor’s independence declaration to the directors of Zurich Australia 
Limited 

 

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Zurich Australia Limited for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2021, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit;  

b. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit; and 

c. No non-audit services provided that contravene any applicable code of professional conduct in 
relation to the audit. 

 

\\ 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
 
 
 
 
 
David Jewell 
Partner 
23 March 2022 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

 
 Notes 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
Insurance premium revenue  838,084 773,561 
Gross reinsurance expense  (321,525) (318,412) 
Reinsurance commission  87,236 103,005 
Net insurance premium revenue  603,795 558,154 
    
Fees for management services rendered  13,959 16,521 
Investment revenue 8 163,781 68,757 
Other income  2,912 2,661 
Total revenue and other income  180,652 87,939 
    
Claims expense 9(a) (388,144) (316,221) 
Reinsurance recoveries  194,087 162,898 
Net claims expense  (194,057) (153,323) 
    
Movement in insurance contract liabilities 10(a) (21,780) (117,742) 
Movement in insurance contract liabilities - ceded 10(a) (5,758) 93,734 
Movement in investment contract liabilities 10(a) (137,034) (28,444) 
Movement in investment contract liabilities - ceded 10(a) (801) (739) 
Movement in unvested policyholder benefits 10(b) 247 1,056 
Net movement in policy liabilities  (165,126) (52,135) 
    
Commission expenses 9(b) (144,811) (132,814) 
Administration expenses 9(c) (153,227) (141,553) 
Amortisation expense 30 (4,597) (4,597) 
Total operating expenses   (302,635) (278,964)  
    
Profit before income tax   122,629 161,671 
    
Income tax expense 20 (46,746) (50,191) 
    
Profit for the year  75,883 111,480 
    
Other comprehensive income/(loss)    
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (net of tax):    
Loss on revaluation of other financial assets at fair value 
through equity  (2,093) (2,374) 
    
Other comprehensive loss for the year  (2,093)  (2,374)  
    
Total comprehensive income for the year   73,790 109,106 
    

 
The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2021 

 
 Notes 2021 2020 
  $’000 $’000 

Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 12 152,474 151,160 
Trade and other receivables 13 97,729 75,660 
Deferred origination costs 14 1,021 1,468 
Other financial assets 16 2,355,937 2,248,941 
Gross policy liabilities ceded under reinsurance 10(a) 549,122 555,681 
Intangible assets 30 261,179 265,776 

Total Assets  3,417,462 3,298,686 
    
Liabilities    

Trade and other payables 19 118,880 94,618 
Provisions  3,138 2,808 
Deferred origination fees 15 1,022 1,467 
Deferred tax liabilities 22 32,504 39,839 
Gross policy liabilities - insurance contracts 10(a) 570,948 549,168 
Gross policy liabilities - investment contracts 10(a) 1,050,108 1,023,467 
Unvested policyholder benefits 10(b) 22,169 22,416 

Total Liabilities  1,798,769 1,733,783 
    
Net Assets  1,618,693 1,564,903 
    
Equity    
 Share capital 23 553,000 553,000 
 Asset revaluation reserves  (3,185) (1,092) 
 Retained earnings  1,068,878 1,012,995 
Total Equity  1,618,693 1,564,903 

 
 
 
 
 

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

 
  

Share 
Capital  

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserves 

 
Retained 
Earnings 

 
 

Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
Balance as at 1 January 2020 486,000 1,282 901,515 1,388,797 
     
Profit for the period - - 111,480 111,480 
     
Other comprehensive loss - (2,374) - (2,374) 
     
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - (2,374) 111,480 109,106 
     
Issue of share capital 67,000 - - 67,000 
     
Balance as at 31 December 2020 553,000 (1,092) 1,012,995 1,564,903 
     
Profit for the period - - 75,883 75,883 
     
Other comprehensive loss - (2,093) - (2,093) 
     
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  - (2,093) 75,883 73,790 
     
Issue of share capital - - - - 
     
Dividends paid - - (20,000) (20,000) 
     
Balance as at 31 December 2021 553,000 (3,185) 1,068,878 1,618,693 

 
 

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Cash Flow Statement 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

 
 Notes 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities    

Premiums net of reinsurance expense and deposits received  618,828 565,728 
Policy and withdrawal payments net of reinsurance recoveries  (327,552) (260,327) 
Expense payments  (149,724) (136,431) 
Investment revenue   126,667 100,974 
Fees and commissions received  11,794 16,833 
Fees and commissions paid  (145,195) (132,401) 
Payment to head tax entity  (45,299) (26,748) 

Net cash inflow from operating activities 24 89,519 127,628  
    
Cash Flows from Investing Activities    

    
Proceeds from sale of financial assets  764,548 960,102 
Acquisition of financial assets  (762,753) (1,107,083) 
Loan granted to ultimate controlling entity  (70,000) - 

Net cash outflow from investing activities  (68,205) (146,981) 
    
Cash Flows from Financing Activities    
     Proceeds from issue of shares  - 67,000 
     Dividends paid  (20,000) - 
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities  (20,000) 67,000 
    
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  1,314 47,647 

    
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  151,160 103,513 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 12 152,474 151,160 

 
 
 
 

The above Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Zurich Australia Limited ("the Company") is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 
The address of the Company's registered office is 118 Mount Street, North Sydney, New South Wales, 2060, 
Australia. The financial report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 comprises solely the 
Company. 

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 were authorised for issue in 
accordance with the resolution of the directors on 23 March 2022. 

The Company is a for-profit entity. 

A. Basis of preparation 

     (a)    Statement of compliance 

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB), and the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
This financial report is prepared in accordance with the fair value basis of accounting with certain exceptions as 
described in the accounting policies below. Unless otherwise stated, the accounting policies adopted are consistent 
with those of the previous year.  
 
The financial statements of the Company also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  
 
The Company has elected to apply AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.  These financial 
statements are separate financial statements and the Company is exempted from preparing consolidated financial 
statements. The Australian parent company, ZFSA, produces consolidated financial statements in accordance with the 
Australian Accounting Standards for public use, which can be obtained at 118 Mount Street, North Sydney, NSW, 
2060.   
 
(b) Use of estimates, judgement and assumptions 

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements are disclosed in Note 2 and 3. 

(c)    Basis of measurement 

The financial information has been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis except for certain assets and 
liabilities as described in the accounting policies below. 

(d) Changes in accounting policies 

There have been no new or revised Australian Accounting Standards and Australian Interpretations that have been 
applied by the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

A.  Basis of preparation (continued) 

(e)    New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 
2021 reporting periods. The Company’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is set 
out below: 

 
 AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, measurement and de-recognition of financial assets 

and financial liabilities, introduces new rules for hedge accounting and a new impairment model for financial 
assets. This standard became effective from 1 January 2018, however in October 2016, the AASB published 
an amendment to AASB 4 which provides an option of temporary exemption from AASB 9 for entities that 
meet certain requirements (applied at the reporting entity level).  

The Company has assessed the applicability of the exemption and concluded that it meets the necessary 
requirements. AASB 4 (including the amendments) will be superseded by the new insurance contracts standard 
AASB 17. Accordingly, the temporary exemption is expected to cease to be applicable when the new insurance 
standard becomes effective on 1 January 2023, and as such, AASB 9 will be adopted together with AASB 17 on 
the latter’s effective date. 

 AASB 17 Insurance Contracts was adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board in July 2017 and 
subsequently amended in July 2020. 

AASB 17 will apply to the Company from 1 January 2023. AASB 17 will apply to all insurance business and 
introduces a 'general model' and ‘variable fee approach’ for recognition and measurement of insurance contracts. 
The first applicable reporting period for the Company will be the year ending on 31 December 2023, with 
comparatives restated on a AASB 17 basis for the year ending 31 December 2022. 
 
Whilst AASB 17 does not change the economics of the insurance business, the standard will impact the 
Company’s pattern of profit emergence mostly through discounting, risk adjustments, contractual service margin 
and onerous contracts. The Company’s capital requirements will also be impacted once the Australian Prudential 
Regulation Authority (APRA) standards are finalised. AASB 17 will be applied full retrospectively at transition, 
unless this is impracticable for certain groups of contracts. The modified retrospective approach and fair value 
approach are primarily applied to contracts underwritten prior to 2018 due to impracticability of applying a full 
retrospective approach. 
 
The relevant key areas of consideration under AASB 17 are set out below and where possible the current proposed 
approach has been detailed:   
 

- Portfolios of contracts (with similar risks which are managed together) require disaggregation into those that 
are onerous, no significant possibility of becoming onerous and all other, as well as annual cohorts. This will 
result in an increase in the number of portfolios and cohorts under AASB 17 compared to AASB 1038 Life 
Insurance Contracts. For onerous contracts, where the present value of fulfilment cash flows exceeds the 
carrying amount of the contractual service margin of a portfolio, the loss component will be recognised in the 
insurance service result in profit and loss. The full impact of the Company’s onerous contracts for local 
reporting is still being determined with the aim to complete this in the second quarter of 2022. 

 
- Risk adjustments are introduced for non-financial risk and is a separate component of the insurance liability 

covering uncertainties in the amount and timing of future cash flows. The risk adjustments will be calculated 
using the Zurich Group methodology, which requires a confidence level method. This will result in an 
increase in gross insurance contract liabilities and an increase in reinsurance contract assets. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

A.  Basis of preparation (continued) 

(e) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued) 

- AASB 17 requires the estimate future cash flows to be discounted to reflect the time value of money and 
financial risks related to these cash flows but does not prescribe a methodology for determining the discount 
rates used. For the in-force insurance and reinsurance contracts, the Company will take the option as stated in 
AASB 17 to disaggregate the (re-)insurance finance income or expense between profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income (OCI) in shareholder’s equity. Under this option, the unwind of discount in profit or 
loss under the general model is based on discount rates at the date of initial recognition of the group of 
insurance contracts. The difference between the current discount rates and the discount rates at the date of 
initial recognition for valuation purposes is presented in OCI. The methodology to determine discount rate is 
currently being reviewed with the aim to finalise in the second quarter of 2022. 

 
- There are also changes to what can be deferred in ‘insurance acquisition cash flows’ as defined in AASB 17. 

These will result in a decrease in the total acquisition cost to be amortised. ‘Assets for insurance acquisition 
cash flows’ will be recognised as part of the insurance contract liabilities representing acquisition cash flows 
incurred before the related group of insurance contracts is recognised.  

 
- The contract boundary, which is the period over which profit is recognised, is determined by the ability to 

compel the policyholder to pay premiums or the substantive obligation to provide coverage/services. While 
the Company has performed an initial assessment of the applicable contract boundaries for each of the 
Company’s products, further review of the determined contract boundaries is ongoing with the aim to finalise 
in the second quarter of 2022. 

 
- Reinsurance contracts and the associated assets will be recognised and measured separately to the gross 

insurance contract liability and may have different contract boundaries; The Company has assessed all its 
reinsurance contracts and is expected to apply the general model on these reinsurance contracts. 

 
The Company performs impact assessments through the use of ‘parallel runs’ on an AASB 17 basis, which is an 
iterative process for analysing any implementation gap, redefining approach and re-running updated processes to 
reduce the gap. This will be continued in 2022 to ensure the Company continues to assess the impact of the new 
requirements and emerging industry guidance on financial statements.  
 
The standard requires substantial changes in presentation of the financial statements and disclosures by introducing 
new balance sheet and income statement line items and increasing disclosure requirements compared with existing 
reporting. Market developments also continue to be monitored in order to assess the impact of evolving 
interpretations and other changes.  
 
With the impact of the onerous contracts not yet known, methodology to determine both the contract boundaries and 
discount rates utilised not yet finalised as well as the ongoing work on refinement of the AASB 17 transition 
calculation, the financial impact of adopting AASB 17 cannot be reasonably estimated at the date of this report. The 
Company intends to disclose the potential financial impact of adopting AASB 17 once it is practical to provide a 
reliable estimate.  
 
(f)    Rounding 

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 
2016/191, relating to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the financial statements. Amounts in the financial statements 
have been rounded off in accordance with the instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the 
nearest dollar.  

(g)    Comparatives 

Certain amounts in the comparative information have been reclassified to conform to current period financial 
statement presentations. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

A. Basis of preparation (continued) 

(h)    Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (the ‘functional currency’).  

The Company’s financial statements are presented in Australian dollars (“AUD”), which is the Company’s functional 
and presentation currency. 

(i)    Controlled entities 

Controlled entities are those entities where the Company (investor) has: 
 power over the entity (investee); 
 exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity (investee); and 
 the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns. 

 
A list of controlled entities is summarised in Note 17. 

 
   (j)    Associates 

Associates are all entities over which the Company has significant influence or the power to participate in the financial 
and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control of those policies. A list of associates 
is summarised in Note 18. 

 
B. Life insurance business 

 
(a) Principles underlying conduct of the life insurance business 

 
The life insurance operations of the Company are conducted within separate statutory funds as required by the Life 
Insurance Act 1995 and are reported in aggregate with the shareholders’ fund in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, Statement of Financial Position, Cash Flow Statement and Statement of Changes in Equity of the Company. 
The life insurance operations of the Company comprise the selling and administration of life insurance and life 
investment contracts. 

The accounting treatment of certain transactions in this financial report varies depending on the nature of the contract 
underlying the transactions. The two major contract classifications relevant to the Company are life insurance contracts 
and life investment contracts. 

Life insurance contracts involve the acceptance of significant insurance risk. Insurance risk is defined as significant if 
and only if, an insured event could cause an insurer to pay significant additional benefits in any scenario, excluding 
scenarios that lack commercial substance (i.e. have no discernible effect on the economics of the transaction). In 
addition, there are some policies that are similar to investment contracts (as defined below) but the timing and vesting 
of the profit attributable to the policyholders is at the discretion of the Company. These policies are referred to as 
having discretionary participating features. When such contracts are issued by a registered life insurance entity, and 
administered through separate Life statutory funds in accordance with the requirements of the Life Insurance Act 
1995, the underlying contracts are treated as life insurance contracts. 

 
Insurance contracts include those where the insured benefit is payable on the occurrence of a specified insured event 
such as death, injury or disability caused by accident or illness. The insured benefit is either not linked or only partly 
linked to the market value of the investments held by the Company, and the financial risks are substantially borne by 
the Company.  
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

B.  Life Insurance Business (continued) 

(a) Principles underlying conduct of the life insurance business (continued) 
 

Any products sold that do not meet the definition of a life insurance contract, and are still regulated under the Life 
Insurance Act 1995, are classified as life investment contracts. Life investment contracts include investment linked 
contracts where the benefit amount is directly linked to the market value of the investments held in the particular 
investment linked fund. While the underlying assets are registered in the name of the Company and the investment 
linked policy owner has no direct access to the specific assets, the contractual arrangements are such that the 
investment linked policy owner bears the risks and rewards of the fund’s investment performance. The Company 
derives fee income from the administration of investment linked policies and funds. 

Policy contracts that include both investment and insurance elements are separated into these two elements where 
possible and reported accordingly.  For policies where the investment and insurance elements cannot be separated due 
to the nature and terms and conditions of the product, the product classification will be considered on an individual 
basis. 

(b) Shareholder’s entitlement to monies held in statutory funds 
 

Monies held in the statutory funds are subject to the distribution and transfer restrictions and other requirements of 
the Life Insurance Act 1995.   

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below.  These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.  

(c) Insurance premium and related revenue 

Life Insurance Contracts 
Premium revenue is earned on life insurance contracts. Premiums with no due date are recognised as revenue on a 
cash received basis.  Premiums with a regular due date are recognised as revenue on an accruals basis.  Unpaid 
premiums are only recognised as revenue during the days of grace or where secured by the surrender value of the 
policy and are included as “Outstanding premiums” in the Statement of Financial Position.  Premiums due after but 
received before the end of the financial year are shown as “Premiums in advance” in the Statement of Financial 
Position. 

Life Investment Contracts 
Ongoing fees for investment management services are recognised as revenue as the services are provided. Entry fees 
charged to the client on inception are deferred as Deferred Origination Fees (DOF) liability on the Statement of 
Financial Position and then earned over the period that the services are provided.  

(d) Fees and other revenue 

Fees charged to customers in connection with other financial services contracts are recognised as revenue at the time 
services are provided. In some cases services are provided at the inception of the contract while other services are 
performed over the life of the contract. 

(e) Investment revenue 

Interest income is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income using the effective interest rate method.  
 
Dividends are recognised when the company obtains control of the right to receive the revenue.  This applies even if 
they are paid out of pre-acquisition profits. However, the investment may need to be tested for impairment as a 
consequence, refer to Note 1(p). 

Distribution income from unlisted unit trusts is recognised on a present entitlement basis. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

B.     Life Insurance Business (continued) 

(f) Insurance claims and related expenses 

Life Insurance Contracts 
Claims incurred relate to life insurance contracts (providing services and bearing risks including income protection 
business) and are treated as expenses.  Claims are recognised when the liability to the policyholder under the policy 
contract has been established, or upon notification of the insured event depending on the type of claim.  Surrenders 
are recognised when the policyholder formally notifies of their intention to end the policy previously contracted to. 

Life Investment Contracts 
There is no claims expense in respect of life investment contracts. Surrenders and withdrawals which relate to life 
investment contracts are treated as a movement in life investment contract liabilities. Surrenders are recognised when 
the policyholder formally notifies of their intention to end the policy previously contracted to. 

(g) Outwards reinsurance expense 

Amounts paid to reinsurers under insurance contracts held by the Company are recorded as outwards reinsurance 
expense and are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income from the attachment date over the period of 
indemnity of the reinsurance contract in accordance with the expected pattern of the incidence of the risk ceded. 

(h) Basis of expense apportionment 

Expenses are allocated to statutory fund, class, category of business, and between insurance contracts and 
investment contracts based on the fees incurred under a service agreement between the Company and Zurich 
Financial Services Australia Limited (‘ZFSA’). 
 
The fees within the service agreement are based on the results of an activity based costing exercise which allocates 
expenses across product groups and functions. Expenses are allocated directly where possible, or are apportioned 
using business drivers and statistics such as policy counts, annual premiums, funds under management and claim 
payments. The expense apportionments are carried out in accordance with Division 2 of Part 6 of the Life Insurance 
Act 1995.  
 
Apportionment between policy acquisition, policy maintenance and investment management expenses has been made 
in line with principles set out in the APRA Prudential Standard LPS 340 “Valuation of Policy Liabilities”. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

B.     Life insurance business (continued) 

(i) Income tax 

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable or receivable on the current period’s taxable 
income based on the relevant income tax rate for each class of business adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets 
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses. 
 
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of 
the reporting period in the countries where the company’s subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable 
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of 
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the 
assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted.  The 
relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure 
the deferred tax asset or liability.  An exception is made for certain temporary differences arising from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability.  No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary 
differences if they arose in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not 
affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if it is probable that future taxable 
amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax 
bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is intended that net 
settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are offset where: (a) a legally enforceable right of set-off exists; and (b) the deferred tax assets 
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different 
taxable entities, where it is intended that the net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective 
asset and liability will occur in future periods in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are 
expected to be recovered or settled. 
 
Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in 
equity. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

B.     Life insurance business (continued) 

(i) Income tax (continued) 

Tax Consolidation Legislation 
The Company is part of a tax consolidated group, of which ZFSA is the head entity, and which implemented the tax 
consolidation legislation on 1 October 2003.  
 
The head entity, ZFSA, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group (including the Company) continue to 
account for their own current and deferred tax amounts.  These tax amounts are measured on a stand-alone basis 
approximating the basis as if each entity in the tax consolidated group was a separate taxpayer within that group. 
 
In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, ZFSA also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and 
the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the 
tax consolidated group.   
 
Assets or liabilities arising under the tax funding agreement with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as 
amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the group.  

 
Tax Consolidation Legislation (continued) 
Under a separate tax funding agreement, the Company fully compensates ZFSA for any current tax payable assumed 
and is compensated by ZFSA for any current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses or 
unused tax credits that are transferred to ZFSA under the tax consolidation legislation.  The funding amounts are 
determined by reference to the amounts recognized (tax) in the Company’s financial statements in respect of current 
tax. 
  
Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are 
recognised as a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities. 

 
The entities in the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax sharing agreement which, in the opinion of the 
directors, limits the joint and several liability of the wholly-owned entities in the case of a default by the head entity, 
ZFSA. 

 
For further details see income tax Note 20. 
 
(j) Goods and services tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are disclosed net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (GST), except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO).  In these circumstances the GST 
is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. 
 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as an asset or liability in the Statement 
of Financial Position. 
  
Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating 
cash flows. 

 
(k)    Foreign currency translations 

The financial statements of the Company are presented in Australian dollars, which is the functional and presentational 
currency. Foreign currency transactions are initially translated into Australian currency at the rate of exchange at the 
date of the transaction.  At balance date, amounts payable and receivable in foreign currencies are translated to 
Australian currency at the rates of exchange current at that date.  Resulting exchange differences are brought to account 
in determining the profit or loss for the year. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

B.     Life insurance business (continued) 

(l) Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts 
are shown within interest bearing liabilities on the Statement of Financial Position. 

(m) Investments and other financial assets 
 

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories: Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, other financial assets at fair value through equity, and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial 
recognition. 
 
(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
The Company has determined that all assets held within its statutory funds are assets backing policy liabilities and 
retained profits of the statutory funds, and all assets held within its shareholder fund are assets that do not back policy 
liabilities. It is considered that the use of fair value through profit or loss results in more relevant information because 
it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency. 

Fair value is determined as follows: 
 Cash assets and bank overdrafts are carried at face value of the amounts deposited or drawn. The carrying 

amounts of cash assets and bank overdrafts approximate their fair value.  
 Shares, fixed interest securities and options: fair value is taken as the bid price of the instrument. 
 Unlisted fixed interest securities are recorded at amounts based on valuations using rates of interest equivalent 

to the yields obtainable on comparable investments at balance date. 
 Unlisted unit trusts are recorded at redemption or net asset value (NAV) price. 
 Reinsurance recoveries receivable are measured as the present value of the expected future receipts, calculated 

on the same basis as the life insurance policy liabilities to which they relate. 
 Investments in associates held within statutory funds are recorded at fair value based on the underlying net asset 

value of the associate entity. 
 Loans are recorded at outstanding principal balance less any provision for impairment. 
 Receivables are carried at cost which is the best estimate of fair value, as they are usually settled within twelve 

months less provision for impairment. 
 
Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade-date – the date on which the Company commits to purchase 
or sell the asset. Financial assets are initially recognised at cost. These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. 
Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value are included in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the period in which they arise. Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive 
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.   

(ii) Other financial assets at fair value through equity 
The Company has determined that all investments in controlled entities held within its shareholder fund are assets that 
do not back policy liabilities and these assets are recorded at fair value determined with reference to current available 
market data and using recognised methods of valuation. Unrealised profits and losses on subsequent measurement to 
fair value are recognised in the asset revaluation reserve.  

(iii) Receivables 
Receivables are carried at cost which is the best estimate of fair value, as they are usually settled within twelve months 
and subsequently subject to impairment testing. Impairment testing is based on collectability of receivables and is 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. An impairment charge is recognised when there is objective evidence that the Company 
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the contracts. The impairment charge is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

B.     Life insurance business (continued) 

(n) Deferred acquisition costs   
 

The costs incurred in acquiring specific life insurance contracts include advisor fees, commission payments, 
underwriting costs, application processing costs, relevant advertising costs, and promotion of products and related 
activities. 

Life insurance contract acquisition costs are deferred provided that these amounts are recoverable out of future product 
margins (including margins arising from the in force portfolio for the same related product group). Otherwise, losses 
arising on acquisition are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year in which they occur.  The 
deferred amounts are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as a reduction in the life insurance liabilities 
and are amortised through the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the expected duration of the relevant policies. 

(o) Deferred origination costs  
 

Life investment contracts issued result in commissions and payments to external service and advice providers. 
Acquisition costs arising in relation to investment contract business can only be deferred to the extent they are 
incremental and directly attributable to securing the contracts. Non-incremental costs are recognised and expensed as 
they occur. 

The deferred portion of the expenses is recognised as a Deferred Origination Cost (DOC) asset. The DOC asset is 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as an intangible asset and is amortised on a straight line basis over 
seven years. A recoverability test on DOC asset is carried out on an annual basis. 

(p) Impairment of assets 
 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are not subject to impairment testing. Other financial 
assets at fair value through equity are subject to impairment testing where at each balance date the Company assesses 
whether there is objective evidence that these assets are impaired.  

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, such as goodwill and identifiable intangible assets, are not subject to 
amortisation and are tested at least annually for impairment. Other assets such as receivables are tested for impairment 
whenever there is objective evidence indicating that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 
is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value, less direct selling costs and its value in use. 

(q) Payables 
 

Payables are carried at cost which is the best estimate of fair value as they are usually settled within twelve months. 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the financial 
year and which are unpaid.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

(r) Provisions 
 

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; 
it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount can be 
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. 

(s) Dividends 
 

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the 
discretion of the Company, on or before the end of the financial year but not distributed at balance date. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

B.     Life insurance business (continued) 

(t) Policy liabilities 

Policy liabilities consist of life insurance contract liabilities and life investment contract liabilities.  

Life Insurance Contract Liabilities  
The value of life insurance contract liabilities is calculated using the Margin on Services methodology. Under this 
methodology, planned profit margins and an estimate of future liabilities are calculated separately for each related 
product group at each reporting date. Profit margins are released over each reporting period in line with the services 
that have been provided. The balance of the planned profits is deferred by including them in the value of policy 
liabilities. Further details of the actuarial assumptions used in these calculations are set out in Note 3. In addition, life 
insurance contract liabilities also include incurred but not reported, reported but not admitted, and claims in course of 
payment reserves. 

Life Investment Contract Liabilities  
Life investment contracts liabilities are valued at fair value, which is based on the account balance of the investment 
contracts, subject to a minimum of the current surrender value. 

(u) Intangible assets 
 

(i) Value of Business Acquired 
Value of Business Acquired is the intangible asset representing future profits expected to emerge from life insurance 
contracts acquired in a business combination or portfolio transfer. Such an asset is amortised over the expected life of 
the acquired contracts. The carrying value of the Value of Business Acquired intangible asset is tested periodically for 
impairment as part of the liability adequacy test for insurance contracts. 

 
(ii) Goodwill 
Goodwill is measured as the excess of consideration transferred over the fair value of the net tangible assets and any 
identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination. 
 
Goodwill is classified as an intangible asset and is not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of the business include the carrying amount of 
goodwill relating to the business sold. 
 
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units. The allocation is made to those 
cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units (CGU’s) based on the level at which management monitors 
operations and makes decisions relating to the continuation or disposal of assets and operations. 
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2. Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates  

The Company makes estimates and assumptions in respect of certain key assets and liabilities. Estimates and 
judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The key areas in which critical estimates 
and judgements are applied are described below. 

(a) Asset impairment 
 

The assessment of impairment of assets considers qualitative and quantitative factors and may require judgement by 
management in applying accounting policies. 

(b) Life insurance contract liabilities 
 

Life insurance contract liabilities are computed using statistical or mathematical methods. The computations are made 
by suitably qualified personnel on the basis of recognised actuarial methods, with due regard to relevant actuarial 
principles. The methodology takes into account the risks and uncertainties of the particular classes of life insurance 
business written. Deferred acquisition costs are connected with the measurement basis of life insurance contract 
liabilities. Both of these are sensitive to the factors that are considered in the liability measurement. The deferred 
acquisition costs are included within the life insurance liabilities. 

The key factors that affect the estimation of these liabilities and related assets are: 
 the cost of providing benefits and administering these insurance contracts; 
 mortality and morbidity experience on life insurance products, including an estimate of the impact of any 

enhancements to policyholder benefits; 
 discontinuance experience, which affects the Company’s ability to recover the cost of acquiring new business 

over the duration of the contracts; and  
 the amounts credited to policyholders’ accounts compared to the returns on invested assets. 

 
In addition, factors such as regulation, competition, interest rates, taxes, securities market conditions and general 
economic conditions affect the level of these liabilities. In some contracts, the Company shares experience on 
mortality, morbidity, persistency, expenses and investment results with its customers, this can offset the impact of 
these factors on profitability from those products. Details of specific actuarial assumptions and methods are set out in 
Note 3. 

(c) Assets arising from reinsurance contracts 
 

Assets arising from reinsurance contracts are also computed using the above methods. In addition, the recoverability 
of these assets is assessed on a periodic basis to ensure that the balance is reflective of the amounts that will ultimately 
be received, taking into consideration factors such as counterparty and credit risk. Impairment is recognised where 
there is objective evidence that the Company may not receive amounts due to it and these amounts can be reliably 
measured. 

(d) Recognition of deferred tax assets  
 

 Deferred tax assets (DTA) for deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward are recognised where 
future income is expected to become available to absorb the deductible temporary differences and losses not previously 
used. For superannuation business, if policyholders redeem their policy before sufficient gains have occurred to offset 
past losses, the potential deferred tax asset on the related investments will not be recoverable. 
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3.  Actuarial Assumptions and Methods  

The effective date of the actuarial report on policy liabilities and capital adequacy requirement is 31 December 2021. 
The Appointed Actuary, Stuart Turner, is satisfied as to the accuracy of the data upon which policy liabilities have 
been determined. 

The amount of policy liabilities has been determined in accordance with methods and assumptions disclosed in this 
financial report, with the applicable accounting standards and with the requirements of the Life Insurance Act 1995. 

Policy liabilities comprise life insurance contract liabilities and life investment contract liabilities.   

The nature of the terms of the life insurance contracts written is such that certain external variables can be identified 
on which related cash flows for claim payments depend. The tables below provide an overview of the key variables 
upon which the amount of related cash flows for the life insurance contracts are dependent. 

Type of contract  
 

Detail of contract 
workings  

Nature of compensation 
for claims 
 

Key variables that 
affect the timing and 
uncertainty of future 
cash flows 
 

Non-participating life 
insurance contracts 
with fixed terms (Term, 
Total and Permanent 
Disablement “TPD”, 
Trauma and Disability 
Income, non-
participating endowment 
and whole of life) 
 

Benefits paid on death or 
ill health that are fixed 
and not at the discretion 
of the issuer. 
 

Benefits, defined by the 
insurance contract, are 
determined by the contract 
and are not directly affected 
by the performance of 
underlying assets or the 
performance of the 
contracts as a whole. 
 

Mortality 
Morbidity 
Interest rates 
Lapses 
Expenses 
 

Life insurance contracts 
with discretionary 
participating 
benefits (participating 
endowment 
and whole of life) 
 

These policies include a 
clearly defined initial 
guaranteed sum assured 
which is payable on 
death.  Regular bonuses 
are also added annually 
at the discretion of the 
Company and these are 
also payable on death or 
maturity where 
applicable. Once 
declared, bonuses cannot 
be removed.  
 

Benefits arising from the 
discretionary participation 
feature are based on the 
performance of a specified 
pool of contracts or a 
specified type of contract. 
 

Mortality 
Morbidity 
Market earning rates 
Interest rates 
Lapses 
Expenses 
 

 
(i) Policy liabilities   

These amounts, together with future premiums and investment earnings, are required to: 

 meet the payment of future benefits and expenses; and 

 provide for future profits. 

The life insurance contract liabilities have been calculated in accordance with the requirements of APRA Prudential 
Standard LPS 340 “Valuation of Policy Liabilities” under section 114 of the Life Insurance Act 1995.  The Prudential 
Standard requires the life insurance contract liabilities to be calculated in a way which allows for the systematic release 
of planned margins as services are provided to policyholders. 
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3.  Actuarial Assumptions and Methods (continued) 

(i)  Policy liabilities (continued) 

 The life investment contract liabilities, the Actuarial Standard requires the policy liabilities to be calculated in 
accordance with AASBs. 

The methods and profit carriers for particular life insurance contract types are as follows: 

Business Type Method (projection or other) Profit Carrier 

Individual – Non-participating   

 Conventional Projection Premiums 

 Lump Sum Risk Projection  Premiums 

 Income Stream Risk Projection  Premiums 

 Lifetime Annuity Projection Annuity Payments 

Group – Non-participating   

 Lump Sum Risk Accumulation n/a 

 Group Salary Continuance Accumulation n/a 

Individual – Participating   

 Conventional Participating Value Supporting Assets 
(VSA) 

Cost of Bonus 

 
The methods for valuing insurance contract liabilities vary as follows: 

 The projection method determines a best estimate value of the liabilities being the net present value of the 
expected future payments and receipts under the policy, based on obligations at the reporting date.  Added to that 
is the best estimate value of the expected future profits to emerge under the policies to form the Policy Liability.  
Best estimate assumptions are neither deliberately overstated nor deliberately understated. 

 The accumulation method is used for Group Risk business. 

 The Value of Supporting Assets (VSA) method is a form of projection method that is used where the policies 
include benefits that provide a discretionary entitlement to share in the investment experience of assets backing 
them and other operating experiences. 

 Part (ii) below explains how the key assumptions used in the calculations were derived, any significant differences by 
type of business or class of business and any changes in the assumptions from those of the previous year. There were 
no significant changes in the methodology used to set the assumptions from last year.   
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3. Actuarial Assumptions and Methods (continued) 

(ii) Actuarial assumptions  

a. Discount Rates 
The discount rates assumed for contracts in Statutory Fund 2 that are contractually linked to the performance of the 
assets held are derived from the expected long-term average rates of return for the relevant asset pools based on the 
benchmark asset mix in line with the documented investment policy for each pool. 

For contracts which are not contractually linked to the performance of the assets held, a risk free discount rate has 
been used. The risk free rate is determined from a Commonwealth Government Bonds (CGB) curve.  
 
Discount rates assumed (before tax), range from 0.41% p.a. to 3.91% p.a. (2020: 0.04% p.a. to 3.05% p.a.). 

b. Bonus and Interest Crediting Rates 
 
  

 Ordinary declared Bonus                2.00% p.a. (2020: 1.75% p.a.) 
  Par Interest                2.50% p.a. (2020: 2.50% p.a.) 
  Non Par Interest                1.00% p.a.(2020: 1.80% p.a.) 

 Superannuation declared Bonus                6.25% p.a.(2020: 5.75% p.a.) 
  Par Interest                 3.25% p.a. (2020: 3.50% p.a.) 

  Non Par Interest                1.00% p.a. (2020: 1.80% p.a.) 

The declared bonus rates are for the year ending at the valuation date. Bonus rates applying to different whole of life 
policies and endowment series will vary according to the respective bonus linkages applying to each series. The 
declared rate applying to different classes of investment account business will vary according to the respective policy 
conditions applying under each contract.  
 
c. Future Expenses and Indexation 
Future maintenance expense unit costs have been assumed primarily using the expected expenses in the Business Plan, 
which are based on the results of an activity based costing exercise which allocates expenses across product groups 
and functions. The expense apportionments are carried out in accordance with Division 2 of Part 6 of the Life 
Insurance Act 1995.  

Future investment expense assumptions at 31 December 2021 have been assumed to vary depending on the product 
type from between 0.04% to 0.36% (2020: 0.04% to 0.36%).  

Benefits and/or premiums under most of the life risk policies are automatically indexed. Assumed future take-up of 
these indexation options has been based on the Company’s previous experience. 

d. Inflation 
The inflation assumption is set taking into account a number of factors including market implied inflation rate, average 
weekly ordinary time earnings compared to inflation, RBA long-term inflation target and the impact of project expense 
amortisation. The assumption is set at a range between 1.75% p.a. and 3.1% p.a. (2020: 1.5% p.a. to 2.8% p.a.). 
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3. Actuarial Assumptions and Methods (continued) 

(ii) Actuarial assumptions (continued) 

e. Future Participating Benefits 
For participating business, the Company’s policy is to set bonus rates so that over long periods, the returns to 
policyholders are commensurate with the investment returns achieved on relevant assets, together with other sources 
of profit arising from this business. Distributions are split between policyholders and shareholders with the valuation 
allowing for shareholders to share in distributions at the maximum allowable rate of 20%. In applying the 
policyholders’ share of distributions to provide bonuses, consideration is given to equity between generations of 
policyholders and equity between the various classes and sizes of policies in force. Assumed future bonus rates 
included in policy liabilities are set such that the present value of policy liabilities equates to the present value of assets 
supporting the business together with assumed investment returns, allowing for the shareholder’s right to participate 
in distributions. 

Assumed future bonus and interest rates for the major classes of individual participating business are: 

Ordinary Bonus               0.96% p.a. (2020:  0.38% p.a.) 
 Par Interest               1.93% p.a. (2020:  2.19% p.a.) 

Superannuation Bonus               4.05% p.a. (2020:  3.33% p.a.) 
 Par Interest               1.82% p.a. (2020:  1.82% p.a.) 

These future bonus and interest rates make no allowance for future distribution of unvested policyholder benefits. 

f. Voluntary Discontinuances and Premium Dormancy 
Discontinuance assumptions are set having regard to analysis of recent Company experience of voluntary 
discontinuances and premium dormancy.  

Voluntary discontinuance assumptions, which vary by age, duration and product, are in the range of 1.0% p.a. to 
66.4% p.a. (2020: 1.0% p.a. to 56.0% p.a.).   

Dormancy assumptions is at 8% p.a. flat for all investment products with annual premium (2020: 4.0% p.a. to 13.0% 
p.a.). 

g. Sum Insured Reductions 
This assumption, which varies between lump sum and disability products and between advisor and direct business, is 
in the range of  0.15% p.a. to 6.5% p.a. (2020: 0.15% to 7.0%) reduction in sum insured.  

h. Surrender Values 
Future surrender values are calculated assuming that the approach used at the valuation date remains in place. 
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3. Actuarial Assumptions and Methods (continued) 

(ii) Actuarial assumptions (continued) 

i. Mortality 
The mortality assumption is based on the FSC-KPMG 04-08 rates, after adjusting for the Company’s business mix. 
Note the FSC-KPMG 04-08 tables reflect Australian insured lives experience between 2004 and 2008. The factor 
applied to the adjusted rates ranged from 80% to 120%, depending on the product type. The assumption is set based 
on an internal analysis of recent mortality experience. Assumed rates also vary by age, sex, smoker status, and sum 
assured. 

j. Lifetime Annuity Products 
The mortality assumption for Lifetime Annuities is 100% IM80 / IF80 adjusting for mortality improvements (2020: 
100%). 

k. Disability 
The morbidity assumptions are based on the FSC-KPMG ADI14-18 tables, adjusted for Zurich’s own experience. The 
FSC-KPMG ADI14-18 tables reflect Australian insured lives experience between 2007 and 2011.   

l. Trauma and TPD Incidence 
The underlying reference table for trauma and TPD incidence is based on the FSC-KPMG 04-08 rates. A percentage 
assumption is then applied to this table. The assumption is set having regard to an internal analysis of recent Company 
experience. 

m. Taxation and Commission 
The taxation basis and commission scale assumed are those applying to each class of business as at the valuation date. 

n. Impact of COVID 19 
To reflect the additional expected claims cost associated with the COVID 19 Pandemic, an allowance has been made 
for the policy liabilities for all individual lump sum and disability income products. Such claims are expected to 
emerge from 2022 until 2023 and take into account economic factors such as forecast unemployment. 

(iii) Effect of changes in actuarial assumptions from 31 December 2020 to 31 December 2021 

 
Assumption Category Effect of Changes on 

Future Profit Margins 
$000 

increase / (decrease) 

Effect of Changes on 
Policy Liability 

$000 
increase / (decrease) 1 

Mortality / Morbidity (111,550)  31,741 
Discontinuance Rates 45,279 713 
Maintenance Expenses 134,724 (30,082) 
Other Assumptions (27,203) 670 

 

1 The above policy liability movements relate to the Superannuation Disability Income business, as it is in loss 
recognition.  

(iv) Sensitivity analysis 

The Company conducts sensitivity analysis to quantify the exposure to risk of changes in the key underlying variables 
such as interest rate, equity prices, mortality, morbidity, discontinuance rates and inflation. The valuations included 
in the reported results and the Company’s best estimate of future performance is calculated using certain assumptions 
about these variables. The movement in any key variable will impact the performance and net assets of the Company 
and as such represents a risk.  
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3.  Actuarial Assumptions and Methods (continued) 

(iv) Sensitivity analysis (continued) 

The table below illustrates how changes in the key assumptions and assumed experience would impact the profit and 
equity of the Company for the current year.  

  Gross of Reinsurance Net of Reinsurance 

Impact of change in variable 

 
 

Percentage 
Change in 
Variable 

 
 
 

Profit/(Loss) 
$000 

Life 
Insurance 
Contract 
Liability 

$000 

 
 
 

Equity 
$000 

 
 
 

Profit/(Loss) 
$000 

Life 
Insurance 
Contract 
Liability 

$000 

 
 
 

Equity 
$000 

December 2021 Assumption          

Worsening of mortality 10% (37) 53 (37) (37) 53 (37) 

Worsening of morbidity 10% (144,753) 206,790 (144,753) (33,301) 47,572 (33,301) 

Increase of discontinuance rate 10% (20,980) 29,972 (20,980) (7,336) 10,480 (7,336) 

Increase in expense 10% (16,443) 23,490 (16,443) (5,176) 7,394 (5,176) 

Decrease in expense (10%) 16,413 (23,447) 16,413 5,145 (7,351) 5,145 

Increase in interest rates 1% 14,807 (128,944) 14,807 (11,686) (50,129) (11,686) 

Decrease in interest rates (1%) (37,839) 161,802 (37,839) 608 65,909 608 

Increase in equity prices 10% 3,819 2,657 3,819 3,819 2,657 3,819 

Decrease in equity prices (10%) (3,819) (2,657) (3,819) (3,819) (2,657) (3,819) 
        

December 2020 Assumption          

Worsening of mortality 10% (54) 77 (54) (54) 77 (54) 

Worsening of morbidity 10% (143,169) 204,528 (143,169) (31,574) 45,105 (31,574) 

Increase of discontinuance rate 10% (23,737) 33,910 (23,737) (7,534) 10,763 (7,534) 

Increase in expense 10% (24,773) 35,389 (24,773) (7,510) 10,728 (7,510) 

Decrease in expense (10%) 24,743 (35,347) 24,743 4,771 (6,816) 4,771 

Increase in interest rates 1% 39,923 (134,453) 39,923 (89) (51,412) (89) 

Decrease in interest rates (1%) (65,321) 170,703 (65,321) (12,175) 68,900 (12,175) 

Increase in equity prices 10% 2,851 2,733 2,851 2,851 2,733 2,851 

Decrease in equity prices (10%) (2,851) (2,733) (2,851) (2,851) (2,733) (2,851) 
 

 

The impact on reported profit and shareholder equity of changes in interest rates and equity prices include impact on 
all financial assets (except those backing investment linked contracts) as well as impact on Life insurance contracts 
liability. Changes in interest rates impact the discount rate used to calculate Life insurance contracts liability.   

The sensitivities presented in the analysis show the impact of changes to assumptions on the year’s profit if the 
assumption change is made (and policy liabilities recalculated as described above). The Profit/(Loss) and equity 
column shows both the cashflow and liability impacts, whereas the life insurance contract liability column shows only 
the liability impact.  
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3.  Actuarial Assumptions and Methods (continued) 

(iv) Sensitivity Analysis (continued) 

For investment linked contracts, the policyholder bears the risks and rewards of the underlying financial assets. The 
impact of changes in interest rates and equity prices on these financial assets affects policyholder returns and has no 
direct impact on the Company’s reported profit for the current year. This does not apply to a small portfolio of policies 
that contain an investment return guarantee. For these, the value of the guarantee is impacted by changes in interest 
rates and equity prices and hence the Company’s reported profit. 

(v) Capital Adequacy Requirements 

These are amounts required to meet the prudential standards specified by the Life Insurance Act 1995 to provide 
protection against the impact of fluctuations and unexpected adverse circumstances on the Company. 

The methodology and bases for determining Capital Adequacy Requirements as at 31 December 2021 are in 
accordance with APRA’s Prudential Standard LPS 110 “Capital Adequacy” in accordance with subsection 230A(1) 
of the Life Insurance Act 1995. 

 
4. Management of Risk  

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of risks that could potentially impact the financial standing of the 
Company. This note and Note 5 – Financial Risk Management, provide an overview of the processes and 
considerations undertaken in managing these risks.  
 
Section A below reviews the Risk Management Framework employed to ensure that the management of risk is 
complete, effective and aligned to the strategic intent of the company. 
  
The various categories of risk that may impact the financial standing of the Company are outlined as follows: Section 
B reviews the Insurance Risk; Section C reviews the Operational Risks, including the specific controls in place to 
manage the risk of financial misstatement; and Note 5 separately details the Financial Risk Management policies and 
procedures in place.  

 
A - Risk Management Framework 

The Company’s overall Risk Management Framework seeks to manage risks within the Board’s risk appetite. This 
includes a focus on potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Company, in particular capital and 
solvency. 
 
The Risk Management Framework, comprises the totality of systems, structures, policies, processes and people that 
identify, measure, evaluate, monitor, report and control or mitigate all internal and external sources of material risk. 
The key components of the Risk Management Framework are: 
 
 The Board’s Risk Appetite Statements – which sets out the Board’s appetite for risk taking in the pursuit of its 

strategic objectives, giving consideration to the interests of policyholders. 
 The Business Plan – which is developed within the Board’s risk appetite and having regard for the risk 

management strategy of the Company, Capital adequacy implications are taken into account in the business 
planning process.  

 The Risk Management Strategy (RMS) – which describes the Company’s strategy for managing risk and the 
key elements of the risk management framework that give effect to the strategy. 

 The Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process – which comprises the processes and procedures for 
assessing the risks arising from the Company’s activities such that capital held is commensurate with the level 
of risk; and it also sets out the strategy for maintaining adequate capital over time, including the setting of 
capital targets consistent with the risk profile of the Company, the Board’s risk appetite and regulatory capital 
requirements. 
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4. Management of Risk (continued) 

A - Risk Management Framework (continued) 

The objective of the RMS is to describe and formalise the Company’s approach to the management of risk by setting 
out: 

 clear roles and responsibilities for the management of risk; 

 an overview of integrated systems, policies and processes that support effective risk management; 

 the risk types that impact the Company’s and its approach to managing those risks; 

 the methodology by which each entity within the Company identifies, assesses and manages its risks in 
accordance with its risk appetite; 

 the mechanisms by which the Company identifies and manages new and emerging risks; and 

 reporting requirements for monitoring risks and the process for escalation where required. 
 
The Company has an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) that addresses the potential impact of 
all risk types to capital and solvency. The authority to take risk is clearly delegated through the Board’s risk appetite 
statement.  For all categories of risk, subject matter experts are responsible for the management of each category of 
risk, including the impact of that risk on capital adequacy. Each category of risk has its own governance streams to 
leverage that expertise. 

 
The broadest categorisation of risks are: 
 
 Life insurance Risk (sub-categorised by liability risk and business risk) 
 Operational Risk (sub-categorised by people risk, process risk, systems risk and external risk) 
 Financial Risk (sub-categorised by market and investment risk (including asset liability risk), credit risk, 

liquidity risk and concentration risk) 
 Strategic Risk (sub-categorised by strategy and business plan risk, reputational risk, and governance risk). 

 
With the exception of strategic risk - where the impact tends to be over a longer-term time horizon and hence is less 
relevant to the annual financial statements - these categories are discussed in the following sections, with financial 
risks separately discussed within Note 5.  
  
The risks within the business are subject to at least an annual review by the Internal Audit department, resulting in an 
annual audit plan which is approved by the Risk, Compliance and Audit Committee (RCAC). The Internal Audit 
department is independent of the day to day operational management of the Company and executes a review of 
components of the internal control systems in accordance with the annual audit plan to assess the effectiveness of the 
internal controls, risk management within the Company and compliance with the RMS.  
 
The Board requires that an active risk culture program is in place. This includes communication, promotion and 
engagement activities as well training for new starters, training for managers, development of additional tools and 
Executive sponsorship (including modelling of behaviours by Executives and setting the appropriate ‘tone from the 
top’).  
 
The Board requires that the remuneration structures in place across the organisation are appropriate, promote a strong 
risk culture and do not incentivise unethical or inappropriate behaviours.  To align staff conduct with a strong risk 
culture, all staff are required to include in their personal performance objectives a requirement to demonstrate risk and 
governance behaviours through appropriate behavioural attributes. 

Behavioural metrics are monitored and reported to the Executive Teams and the RCAC every 6 months to track 
progress and identify areas for improvement. Risk management behaviours are explicitly included in all employees’ 
performance objectives. The Boards expect that the risk culture initiatives are evaluated and improved over time. 
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4. Management of Risk (continued)  

B - Insurance Risk 

(a) Life insurance contracts - Risk management objectives  

The Company’s objective with regard to insurance risk is to satisfactorily manage the risks in line with the Risk 
Management Strategy (RMS) which is approved by the Board. Various procedures are put in place to control and 
mitigate the risks faced by the Company depending on the nature of each risk, and in particular the severity and 
probability of each risk. The Company’s exposure to risk is monitored by the Chief Risk Officer and communicated 
regularly to the Board via the Quarterly Risk Report. The Appointed Actuary also monitors this exposure and reports 
to the Board in the annual Financial Condition Report. 
  
Insurance risks are controlled through the use of underwriting procedures, adequate premium rates and policy charges, 
the ability to change premium rates for yearly renewable business and reinsurance arrangements.  Controls are also 
maintained over claims management practices to ensure the appropriate and timely payment of insurance claims. 
   
Insurance risks are monitored by internal management committees which report regularly to the Board. 
 
(b) Strategy for managing life insurance risk 
 
Portfolio of risk 
The Company currently issues term life, total and permanent disablement, trauma and disability income insurance 
contracts. The performance of the Company and its continuing ability to write profitable business depends on its 
ability to identify and control risks. The Company has adopted the RMS which has been approved by the Board. It 
summarises the Company’s approach to risk and risk management. 
 
Risk strategy 
In compliance with contractual and regulatory requirements, a strategy is in place to ensure that the risks underwritten 
satisfy shareholders risk and reward objectives whilst not adversely affecting the Company’s ability to pay benefits 
and claims when due. The strategy involves the identification of risks by type, impact and likelihood, the 
implementation of processes and controls to mitigate the risks, and continuous monitoring and improvement of the 
procedures in place to reduce the chance of an adverse insurance risk event occurring. Included in this strategy is the 
process for underwriting and product pricing to ensure products are appropriately priced.  Capital requirements are 
measured using the various regulatory reporting requirements to which the Company is subject. 
 
Allocation of capital 
Capital is allocated by the Company to the portfolios of contracts or is held in a central reserve based on management’s 
assessment of the risks to which each line of business is exposed and its view of the profitability of the products that 
are sold.  
 
Solvency and capital adequacy requirements established by APRA are in place to reinforce safeguards for 
policyholders’ interests, which are primarily the ability to meet future claims payments to policyholders and to meet 
policyholders’ reasonable expectations. The APRA solvency and capital adequacy requirements must be met 
continuously throughout the year. These solvency and capital adequacy requirements also take into account specific 
risks faced by the Company.  

 
(c)  Methods to monitor and assess life insurance risk exposures 

Exposure to risk  
In an effort to protect and enhance shareholder value, the Company manages its exposure to risks so that it can react 
in a timely manner to changes in financial markets, insurance cycles, and economic and political environments.  
 
Statutory capital adequacy requirements 
The Company’s insurance operations are subject to regulatory prudential capital requirements which prescribe the 
amount of capital to be held depending on the risks associated with the products issued by the Company and the type, 
quality and concentration of investments held. The Company also aims to hold a target surplus above the prudential 
capital requirements. 
  
Management reporting 
The Company reports monthly financial and operational results to the management.  
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4. Management of Risk (continued) 

B - Insurance Risk (continued) 

(d) Methods to limit or transfer life insurance risk exposures  

Reinsurance 
Reinsurance is used to limit exposure to large single claims and reduce the volatility of expected profits.  New 
reinsurance treaties are assessed to indicate how they will impact the level and volatility of expected profits as well as 
the impact on the Company’s capital position to ensure the achievement of the appropriate choice of type of 
reinsurance and retention levels. 
  
Underwriting procedures 
Strategic underwriting decisions are put into effect using the underwriting procedures detailed in the Company’s 
underwriting manual. Such procedures include limits to delegated authorities and signing powers. The underwriting 
process is regularly monitored by the Company’s internal auditors to ensure adequate controls are in place over the 
underwriting process and that the controls are effective. 
 
Claims management 
Strict claims management procedures ensure the timely and appropriate payment of claims in a consistent and effective 
manner in accordance with policy conditions.  

 
(e) Concentration of life insurance risk 

Insurance risks associated with human life events 
The Company predominantly writes individual risk business through independent financial advisors. The Company’s 
group risk portfolio was closed to new business in 2014. With group risk business, protection against death or 
disablement is typically provided to employers of large work forces where concentration risks may emerge.  
 
The Company has established a catastrophe reinsurance treaty with Zurich Insurance Company Limited, Switzerland 
(ZIC) to reduce the risk of high losses by a single event. The nature of the Company’s overall business mix results in 
a large spread of risks across the country and age ranges, further mitigating concentration risk. 

 
C - Operational Risk 

Operational risk is the risk of loss or the risk of not achieving business objectives resulting from inadequate or failed 
processes, people, systems or from external events such as outsourcing, external business disruptions, external cyber 
attacks, legislation, or external fraud. 
 
The Company has a comprehensive framework with a common approach to identify, assess, quantify, mitigate, 
monitor and report operational risk. Generally, all business activities contain some aspect of operational risk. 
Therefore, ongoing initiatives and operational transformation help manage operational risks through standardisation 
of processes.  All functional business areas within the Company undertake a risk assessment to identify, assess, 
manage and monitor operational risk.  Risk registers are developed and recorded in a central database for each 
functional business area, including identifying control owners and action plans for improvement of controls. These 
risk registers are regularly reviewed, updated and improved. Risk Management facilitates the formal review of the 
risk register on a risk-based approach with a full review of each register at least once every three years. Projects with 
an expected budget over a defined threshold also undergo a risk assessment. 
 
A key control for operational risk is maintaining and developing capability of the Company’s business continuity and 
disaster recovery to plan for the event of a major business disruption. 

 
The Company considers controls to be key instruments for monitoring and managing operational risk.  Although 
primarily focused on important controls over financial reporting, internal control efforts also include related 
operational and compliance controls. The Company continues to strengthen the robustness, consistency, 
documentation and assessment of internal controls for business processes. Operational effectiveness of key controls 
is assessed by self-assessment and independent testing on relevant controls supporting the financial statements. 

 
An operational risk of particular relevance to this report is the risk of misstatement of financial statements.  
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5. Financial Risk Management  

 
Financial risks are a broad category of risks, typically found in financial instruments, but impacting other items on the 
Statement of Financial Position. They are typically divided into market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
  
Financial risks are generally monitored and controlled by selecting appropriate assets to back policy liabilities. The 
assets are regularly monitored by the Capital and Investment Management Committee to ensure that there is no 
material asset and liability mismatching issues and other risks such as liquidity risk and credit risk are maintained 
within acceptable limits. 
 
For those life insurance contracts and life investment contracts where the benefits paid are directly impacted by the 
value of the underlying assets, the Company is exposed to the risk of future decreased asset management fees as a 
result of a decline in assets under management. 
   
(a) Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk of diminution in value of the Company’s investment portfolio arising from adverse movements 
in the levels and volatility of interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices.  The risk is mitigated by ensuring 
that all activities are transacted in accordance with approved mandates, strategies and limits.  Market risk analysis is 
conducted on a regular basis and risk management controls ensure that positions are monitored against the portfolio 
risk limits.  Market risk analysis is conducted on a total portfolio basis, including the effect of market movements on 
the valuation of insurance liabilities, and other Statement of Financial Position items, as well as the explicit impact on 
investments. 
  
Refer to Note 3(iv) for an analysis of the impact of changes in key assumptions on reported profit and equity of the 
Company. The analysis includes the impact of changes on financial assets. 

(b) Credit Risk  

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing 
to discharge an obligation. Credit risk is assumed through three main mechanisms. 

 
i) The assumption of credit risk through investment strategies relating to financial assets.  
ii) Credit risk created through reinsurance, where a reinsurance asset represents an obligation of the reinsurer to the 

entity. 
iii) Receivables within the business, where the entity is owed payment or services by a third party. Most typically 

this is the receipt of invoiced funds.  
 

The management of credit risk is overseen by the CIMC. 
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5. Financial Risk Management (continued) 

(b) Credit Risk (continued) 

i) Financial assets 
The carrying amounts of financial assets included in the Statement of Financial Position represent the Company’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to these assets. Where entities have a right of set-off and intend to settle 
on a net basis, this set-off has been reflected in the financial statements in accordance with accounting standards. 
  
Cash and financial assets 
Standard and Poors (S&P) short-term ratings for Cash at bank disclosed in Note 12  is:  
  
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited:  A-1+ (2020: A-1+) 
HSBC Bank Australia Limited:   A-1 (2020: A-1) 
 
The debt securities disclosed in Note 16 are analysed in the table below using Moody’s and S&P ratings. 

 
 2021 2020 
 $’000 $’000 

Debt securities (held directly)   
AAA 539,165 456,594 
AA 402,526 503,846 
A 170,591 137,413 
BBB 59,152 50,067 

Total debt securities 1,171,434 1,147,920 

   

ii) Reinsurance  

When selecting a reinsurer the Company generally considers only those reinsurers on a list approved by Zurich Group, 
which assesses reinsurer security using rating information from the public domain or gathered through internal 
investigations.  If the Company wishes to select a reinsurer that is not on the approved list it must obtain an exemption 
from Zurich Group or take steps to have the proposed reinsurer added to the approved list. 
 
As at 31 December 2021 the S&P credit ratings for all of the Company’s reinsurers are A or better (2020: A or better). 
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5. Financial Risk Management (continued) 

(b) Credit Risk (continued) 

ii) Reinsurance (continued) 

Financial assets and liabilities arising from insurance and reinsurance contracts are stated in the Statement of Financial 
Position at the amount that best represents the maximum credit risk exposure at balance date.  
 
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk, whether through exposure to individual customers, specific 
industry sectors and/or regions. 

 
 (iii) Business receivables  

Premium receivable 
Outstanding life premiums include non - forfeiture loans provided to policyholders and these are secured by the 
surrender value of the related policies.  

Other receivables 
All other receivables in the Company do not include material amounts that are either past due or impaired. 

 

(c) Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company’s liquidity sources (cash and liquid assets) are insufficient to meet liquidity 
needs under either current conditions or possible future stressed circumstances.  

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of 
funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close-out market positions. 

The Company’s financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are shown in Note 16. The current and non-current 
classification of these assets is based on the maturity terms of the underlying securities held by the unit trusts or 
directly held by the Company. All of the securities held by the unit trusts of the Company have maturity dates of less 
than 12 months, they have been classified as current assets. These securities are liquid assets and can be sold quickly 
if short term funding is required to meet financial liabilities. Investment contracts are payable on demand. The carrying 
amount of these investment contracts is $1.074 billion (2020: $1.060 billion).    

 

Liquidity analysis  

 
As at 31 December 2021 1 Year or Less 

$’000 
1 Year to 5 Years 

$’000 
More than 5 Years 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 152,474 - - 152,474 
Trade and other receivables 97,729 - - 97,729 
Other financial assets 1,457,641 250,603 606,734 2,314,978 
Total financial assets 1,707,844 250,603 606,734 2,565,181 
     
Financial liabilities     
Trade and other payables 118,880 - - 118,880 
Provisions 3,138 - - 3,138 
Investment contract liabilities 1,050,108 - - 1,050,108 
Total financial liabilities 1,172,126 - - 1,172,126 
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5. Financial Risk Management (continued) 

(c)     Liquidity Risk (continued) 

Liquidity analysis (continued) 

 
As at 31 December 2020 1 Year or Less 

$’000 
1 Year to 5 Years 

$’000 
More than 5 Years 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 151,160 - - 151,160 
Trade and other receivables 75,660 - - 75,660 
Other financial assets 1,291,339 374,271 541,859 2,207,469 
Total financial assets 1,518,159 374,271 541,859 2,434,289 
     
Financial liabilities     
Trade and other payables 94,618 - - 94,618 
Provisions 2,808 - - 2,808 
Investment contract liabilities 1,023,467 - - 1,023,467 
Total financial liabilities 1,120,893 - - 1,120,893 

 
Where investment contract liabilities are on demand, they have been disclosed as being expected to be settled within 
1 year or less. 

 
 

(d) Derivative Holdings 

A derivative transaction is a contract where value is derived from the value of an underlying asset or index. Derivatives 
are typically used to manage financial risks, in particular market risks. Each derivative transaction has potential to 
generate credit exposure with the counterparty. Credit risk in respect of derivative financial instruments arises from 
the potential failure of the counterparties to meet their obligations under the contract or arrangement. 

 
The Company does not generally hold any direct derivative contracts itself but its policyholders’ investments in unit 
trusts have exposures to these instruments. Derivatives in the trusts are valued on a mark-to-market value basis such 
that the trust valuations reflect all unrealised gains and losses on derivatives. 
 
As at 31 December 2021 the trusts had no significant counterparty exposure to one single entity, other than normal 
clearing house exposure associated with dealings through recognised exchanges (2020: nil). 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ZURICH AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
31 December 2021 

35 

 

 
5. Financial Risk Management (continued) 

 
(e) Fair Value Measurements 

The aggregate carrying values of financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their net fair values. The 
methods used to determine the carrying values of financial assets and liabilities are included in the summary of 
significant accounting policies in Note 1. 
 
The Company and certain controlled entities have potential financial liabilities which may arise from certain 
contingencies disclosed in Note 26. No material losses are anticipated in respect of any of those contingencies, and 
the net fair value of those contingencies is assessed as an immaterial amount. 

 
 

Fair value hierarchy 

Disclosure is required of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy 
(consistent with the hierarchy applied to financial assets and financial liabilities): 

 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1); 

 inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly (level 2); and 

 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).  

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for 
disclosure purposes. 
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5. Financial Risk Management (continued) 

(e) Fair Value Measurements (continued) 

Fair value hierarchy (continued) 

The following table presents the Company’s assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value at 31 
December 2021 and 31 December 2020. 

 

As at 31 December 2021 Level 1 
$’000 

Level 2 
$’000 

Level 3 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Recurring fair value measurement     
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     
Units in unit trusts  113,619 959,925 - 1,073,544 
Debt Securities - 1,171,434 - 1,171,434 
Shares in associates - - 31,871 31,871 

 113,619 2,131,359 31,871 2,276,849 
     
Financial assets at fair value through equity     
Share in controlled entities - - 9,088 9,088 
     
Total 113,619 2,131,359 40,959 2,285,937 
 

 

As at 31 December 2020 Level 1 
$’000 

Level 2 
$’000 

Level 3 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Recurring fair value measurement     
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     
Units in unit trusts  - 1,059,549 - 1,059,549 
Debt Securities - 1,147,920 - 1,147,920 
Shares in associates - - 30,291 30,291 
 - 2,207,469 30,291 2,237,760 
     
Financial assets at fair value through equity     
Share in controlled entities - - 11,181 11,181 
     
Total - 2,207,469 41,472 2,248,941 
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5. Financial Risk Management (continued)  

Valuation techniques 

Recurring fair value measurements 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as trading securities) is based on quoted market 
prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Company is the 
current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the counter securities) 
is determined using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data 
where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. 

If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2. The 
Company uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at the end of 
each reporting period.  Estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for government bonds. These 
investments are included in level 2. 
 
Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include: 

 The use of quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments; and 
 Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value for the remaining 

financial instruments. 
 

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.  
 
The Company’s shares in associates represent its 40% investment in Zurich Australian Insurance Properties Pty Ltd 
(ZAIP), a related party (Note 18). This investment is valued at 40% of the net asset value of ZAIP whose main asset 
is an investment in a property held at fair value. This shares in associates is included in level 3. 
 
Investments in financial assets at fair value through equity (Note 16) are recorded at fair value. The net asset values 
of these investments are used as a measure of fair value and are included in level 3. 
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5. Financial Risk Management (continued) 

(e) Fair Value Measurements (continued) 

Valuation techniques (continued) 

Recurring fair value measurements (continued) 

The following table presents the changes in level 3 financial assets for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 
December 2020. 

 Shares in 
controlled 

entities 
$’000 

 
Shares in 
associates 

$’000 

 
Total 

securities 
$’000 

 
Opening balance 1 January 2020 13,555 28,714 42,269 

Losses recognised in other comprehensive 
income 

(2,374) - (2,374) 

Gains recognised in investment revenue - 1,577 1,577 
Closing balance 31 December 2020 11,181 30,291 41,472 
    
Losses recognised in other comprehensive 
income (2,093) - (2,093) 

Gains recognised in investment revenue - 1,580 1,580 
Closing balance 31 December 2021 9,088 31,871 40,959 

 
 

The carrying amount of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-
term nature.  

The fair value of financial liabilities approximates their carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not 
significant. 

6. Life Insurance Act 1995 Operating Profit and Retained Profit of Statutory Funds   

(a) Allocation of Operating Profit 

The allocation of operating profit to participating policyholders and shareholders set out below is determined 
in accordance with the requirements of Section 60 of the Life Insurance Act 1995. 
 

 
Class of Business 

Operating Profit 
Allocated 

To Policyholders 

Operating Profit 
Allocated 

to Shareholders 
 

Participating Traditional 80% (2020: 80%) 20% (2020: 20%) 
Participating Investment 
Account 

80% (2020: 80%) 20% (2020: 20%) 

 

(b) Distribution of Retained Profits 

The distribution of retained profits to participating policyholders and shareholders is determined in accordance 
with the requirements of Section 62 of the Life Insurance Act 1995. 
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7. Capital Adequacy Requirements of the Statutory Funds  

The Capital Adequacy Standard (LPS110) prescribes a capital amount and imposes restrictions on assets that can be used to support the prescribed capital amount. The 
prescribed capital amount and the assets that can be used to support the prescribed capital amount, called the Capital Base, for each statutory fund of the Company are as 
follows: 

 Statutory Fund No 2 
 

Statutory Fund No 3 Shareholder Fund             Total 

  2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

         
Net Assets 1,326,677 1,267,453 19,456 18,675 272,560 278,775 1,618,693 1,564,903 
Regulatory adjustments to net assets 1,015,740 1,010,652 735 3,343 247,320 250,826 1,263,795 1,264,821 
Capital Base (1) 310,937 256,801 18,721 15,332 25,240 27,949 354,898 300,082 

         
Insurance Risk Charge 80,014 70,093 - 5,169 - - 80,014 75,262 
Asset Risk Charge 60,505 58,104 635 4,130 1,518 2,533 62,658 64,767 
Operational Risk Charge 25,780 23,898 2,623 2,561 - - 28,403 26,459 
Aggregation Benefit (30,976) (28,607) - (2,066) - - (30,976) (30,673) 
Combined Stress Scenario Adjustment - - 219 - 650 1,085 869 1,085 
Prescribed Capital Amount (2) 135,323 123,488 3,477 9,794 2,168 3,618 140,968 136,900 

         
Capital in excess of the prescribed 
capital amount 175,614 133,313 15,244 5,538 23,072 24,331 213,930 163,182 

         
Capital Adequacy Multiple 2.30 2.08 5.38 1.57 11.64 7.72 2.52 2.19 

 

Explanatory Notes: 

(1) The Capital Base, comprising only Common Equity Tier 1 Capital, as defined by APRA’s Prudential Standard LPS 110 Capital Adequacy, as applicable at 31 December 2021  in accordance with subsection 
230A(1) of the Life Insurance Act 1995. 

(2) The minimum level of assets required to be held in each statutory fund as prescribed by the requirements of APRA’s Prudential Standard LPS 110 Capital Adequacy, as applicable at 31 December 2021  in 
accordance with subsection 230A(1) of the Life Insurance Act 1995. 
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8. Investment Revenue 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

   
Interest income 43,772 39,861 
Distribution income 91,194 63,977 
Other investment revenue 1,869 1,653 
Net realised and unrealised fair value gains/(losses) on financial 
assets through profit or loss 

 
26,946 

 
(36,734) 

   
Total investment revenue 163,781 68,757 

 

9. Expenses  

   
(a) Claims Expense 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
   
Death and disability claims 373,971 298,471 
Maturities 1,480 1,889 
Surrenders and terminations 12,693 15,861 
Total claims expense  388,144 316,221 
   

   

(b) Commission Expenses   
   
Policy acquisition  29,390 28,563 
Policy maintenance  115,421 104,251 
Total commission expenses 144,811 132,814 

 
Insurance contract expenses included in commission expenses amounted to $143,982,000 (2020: $129,987,000). 

 
(c)  Administration Expenses   
   
Policy acquisition  68,671 57,150 
Policy maintenance  77,032 77,604 
Investment management 5,374 4,311 
Other general administration expenses 2,150 2,488 
Total administration expenses 153,227 141,553 

 

Insurance contract expenses included in administration expenses amounted to $135,286,000 (2020: $124,524,000).
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10. Policy Liabilities 

a) Movement in Policy Liabilities 

 Total  
Insurance Contracts 

Total  
Investment Contracts 

Total  
Statutory Funds 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Gross policy liabilities 570,948 549,168 1,050,108 1,023,467 1,621,056 1,572,635 
Gross policy liabilities ceded under reinsurance (548,170) (553,928) (952) (1,753) (549,122) (555,681) 
Net policy liabilities 22,778 (4,760) 1,049,156 1,021,714 1,071,934 1,016,954 
 
Summary of the movements in gross policy liabilities       

Opening balance 549,168 431,426 1,023,467 1,111,544 1,572,635 1,542,970 
Movement in gross policy liabilities as shown in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 21,780 117,742 137,034 28,444 158,814 146,186 
Plus deposits recognised as an increase in policy liabilities - - 27,368 23,453 27,368 23,453 
Less non-premium related fees - - (13,494) (15,615) (13,494) (15,615) 
Less withdrawals recognised as a reduction in policy liabilities - - (124,267) (124,359) (124,267) (124,359) 
Closing balance – Gross Policy Liabilities 570,948 549,168 1,050,108 1,023,467 1,621,056 1,572,635 
 
Summary of the movements in gross policy liabilities ceded under reinsurance       

Opening balance (553,928) (460,194) (1,753) (2,492) (555,681)  (462,686)  
Movement in gross policy liabilities ceded under reinsurance as shown in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income 5,758 (93,734) 801 739 6,559 (92,995) 

Closing balance – Gross Policy Liabilities Ceded Under Reinsurance (548,170) (553,928) (952) (1,753) (549,122) (555,681) 
       
The net policy liabilities that include policy liabilities subject to capital guarantees 190,516 195,987 76,702 85,303 267,218 281,290 
       

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



ZURICH AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
31 December 2021 
 

42 

 

10. Policy Liabilities (continued) 

 
b) Movement in Unvested Policyholder Benefits 

  
 Total 

 Insurance Contracts 
Total 

Investment Contracts 
Total  

Statutory Funds 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

       
Unvested policyholder benefits at the beginning of the year 22,416 23,472 - - 22,416 23,472 
Unvested policyholder benefits at the end of the year 22,169 22,416 - - 22,169 22,416 
Movement in unvested policyholder benefits 247  1,056 - - 247 1,056 
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10. Policy Liabilities (continued) 

c)  Components of Policy Liabilities 

Valuation of net policy liabilities at end of period 2021 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

 Previous Year’s 
Basis (5) 

Current Year’s 
Basis 

Previous Year’s 
Basis 

Insurance Contracts - Best estimate liability (1)    
- Value of future policy benefits (2) 4,998,685 4,845,410 4,533,970 
- Value of future expenses 2,529,694 2,347,428 2,450,123 
- Value of future premiums (8,562,550) (8,228,765) (8,024,994) 
Total Best Estimate liability for Insurance Contracts (1,034,171) (1,035,927) (1,040,901) 
    
Insurance Contracts - Value of future profits (1)    
- Value of future policyholder bonuses (3) 9,523 18,078 10,959 
- Value of future Shareholder profit margins 959,311 960,949 936,993 
Total Value of future profits 968,834 979,028 947,952 
    
Total value of declared bonuses (4) 2,618 2,618 2,463 
    
Net Policy Liabilities for Insurance Contracts (62,719) (54,282) (90,486) 
    
Investment Linked Contracts    
- Value of investment contract liability 1,049,156 1,049,156 1,021,714 
Net Policy Liabilities for Investment Linked 
Contracts 1,049,156 1,049,156 1,021,714 
    
Other Investment Contracts    
- Value of investment contract liability 77,314 77,060 85,726 
Net Policy Liabilities for Other Investment 
Contracts 77,314 77,060 85,726 
    
Net policy liabilities 1,063,750 1,071,934 1,016,954 
    

 

Explanatory Notes: 

1. All business regardless of method of valuation. 

2. Future policy benefits include bonuses credited to policyholders in prior periods but exclude current year bonuses [as 
shown in (4)] and future bonuses [as shown in (3)]. 

3. Future bonuses exclude current year bonuses. 

4. Current year declared bonus valued in accordance with APRA Prudential Standards. 

5. Using the actuarial methods and assumptions relevant at the previous reporting date, but on current in force business. 

6. Restatement of prior year’s Value of Future Premiums and Value of Future Expense is to remove explicit stamp duty 
loading in both components. This aligns with actual profit and loss premium and expense items. Note that implicit 
stamp duty loading is still within Value of Future Premium, and implicit stamp duty expenses are included in Value of 
Future Expenses. 
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11. Statement of Sources of Profit from Operating Activities 

(a) Shareholder’s Profit from Operating Activities in the Statutory Funds 

 Insurance Contracts Investment Contracts Total Statutory Funds 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

The shareholders’ profit from operating activities after income tax of the statutory funds 
is represented by: 

      

       
Investment earnings/(losses) on shareholder’s retained profits and capital  5,555 1,768 (789) (74) 4,766 1,694 
Emergence of shareholder’s planned profits 43,373 39,516 - - 43,373 39,516 
Experience profit  40,031 63,544 - - 40,031 63,544 
(Capitalised loss)/Reversal of capitalised loss (9,736) 8,929 - - (9,736) 8,929 
Management services profit - - 1,573 2,148 1,573 2,148 
       
Shareholder’s profit from operating activities after tax 79,223 113,757 784 2,074 80,007 115,831 

       
Cumulative capital loss carried forward at the end of the year (15,307) (5,571) - - (15,307)  (5,571)  
       

(b) Life Insurance Act Policyholders’ Profit in the Statutory Funds 

       
The Life Insurance Act policyholders’ profit after income tax of the statutory funds is 
represented by: 

      

       
Investment earnings on policyholders’ retained profits 477 751 - - 477 751 
Emergence of policyholders’ planned profits 1,593 1,034 - - 1,593 1,034 
Experience profits / (losses) 701 111 - - 701 111 
       
Life Insurance Act policyholders’ profit after income tax 2,771 1,896 - - 2,771 1,896 
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12. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
   
Cash at bank 63,357 97,497 
Units held in cash management trust 89,117 53,663 
Total cash and cash equivalents 152,474 151,160 

 
During the year, cash and cash equivalents attracted interest rates between 0.25% and 0.45% (2020: 0.00% and 
1.10%). 

 

13. Trade and Other Receivables 

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
   
Outstanding premiums 21,847 20,911 
Reinsurance recoveries receivable 56,855 34,973 
Investment revenue accrued and receivable 8,427 12,244 
Unsettled investment sales 431 427 
Intercompany receivables from related entities (Note 29(f)) 1,589 308 
Other receivables 8,580 6,797 
Total receivables 97,729 75,660 

 

Classification of Receivables 
All categories of trade and other receivables listed above are classified as “current” as the collection of the amounts is expected 
in one year or less.  

 

14. Deferred Origination Costs (DOC) 

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
   
Value at 1 January 1,468 1,690 
      Amount deferred over the year 13 320 
      Amortisation for the year (460) (542) 
Value at 31 December 1,021 1,468 
   
Current DOC 370 463 
Non-current DOC 651 1,005 
Total DOC 1,021 1,468 
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15. Deferred Origination Fees (DOF) 
 

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
   
Value at 1 January 1,467 1,686 
     Amount deferred over the year 11 318 
     Amortisation for the year (456) (537) 
Value at 31 December 1,022 1,467 

   
Current DOF 368 461 
Non-current DOF 654 1,006 

Total DOF 1,022 1,467 

 
 

Amortisation of DOF for the year is included in Fees for management services rendered in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 
 

16. Other Financial Assets 

 2021 2020 
 $'000 $'000 
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss   
 Debt securities 1,171,434 1,147,920 
 Units in unit trusts 1,073,544 1,059,549 
 Shares in associates (Note 18) 31,871 30,291 
 2,276,849 2,237,760 
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Equity   
 Shares in controlled entities 9,088 11,181 
   
Financial Assets at Amortised cost   
   Loan to ultimate controlling entity (Note 29) 70,000 - 
   
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2,355,937 2,248,941 
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17. Investments in Controlled Entities  

The following entities are controlled by the Company. 

Controlled Entities Controlled 
Equity Holding 

Fair Value Principal 
Activities 

 2021 
% 

2020 
% 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

 

Shareholders Fund      

Zurich Investment Management Limited 100.0 100.0 9,088  11,181 Investment 
Management 

Statutory Funds      

Zurich Investments Australian Cash Pool  86.6 83.7 89,121 53,664 Investment Fund 

Zurich Investments Diversified Australian Share Pool 90.1 89.8 198,187 197,328 Investment Fund 

Zurich Investments Diversified Fixed Interest Pool 91.0 90.6 87,283 101,704 Investment Fund 

Zurich Investments Australian Value Share Pool 100.0 100.0 76,202 75,576 Investment Fund 

Zurich Investments Emerging Markets Equity 
Scheme 

87.3 86.5 18,974 20,062 Investment Fund 

Zurich Investments Global Thematic Focus Scheme 99.8 100.0 31,623 25,758 Investment Fund 

Total of Statutory Funds   501,390 474,092  

 
All controlled entities are incorporated in Australia. The country of incorporation or registration is also their 
principal place of business. 
 

 
18. Investments in Associates 

Investments in associates are recorded at fair value in the financial statements in accordance with the accounting 
policy set out in Note 1(m). Information relating to the associated companies is set out below. 

  Ownership 
Interest 

Carrying Amount 

  2021 
% 

2020 
% 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Name of Company Principal Activity     
      
Zurich Australian Insurance Properties 
Pty Ltd 

Property management 40.0 40.0 31,871 30,291 

    31,871 30,291 
 
All investments in associates are incorporated in Australia. The country of incorporation or registration is also their 
principal place of business. 
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19. Trade and Other Payables 
 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

   
Premiums in advance 2,683 1,525 
Reinsurance payable 10,014 9,077 
Policy claims in process of settlement 37,449 24,730 
Intercompany payable to related entities (Note 29(g)) 5,790 3,725 
Intercompany payable to head tax entity (Note 29(g)) 51,558 42,109 
Other payables 11,386 13,452 

Total payables 118,880 94,618 

 
20. Income tax 
 

The income tax expense of the Company has been determined after aggregating various classes of business, each 
with different tax rates.  The rates of taxation applicable to the taxable income of significant classes of business are 
as follows: 

 
Class of business 2021 2020 
 % % 
 
Complying superannuation (Virtual Pooled Superannuation Trust “VPST”) 15 15 
Ordinary class (including accident and disability) 30 30 
Shareholder (general) fund 30 30 
Current pension and immediate annuity (Segregated Exempt Assets “SEA”) Exempt Exempt 

 
Assessable income comprises: 

 Complying superannuation business (VPST) - taxable contributions transferred from superannuation funds, 
specified rollover amounts and investment revenue. 

 
 Shareholder and ordinary life insurance business - investment revenue, premiums received, transfers from 

VPST and SEA classes of business. 
 

The gains and losses on the sale of investments to the extent referable to the complying superannuation business are 
determined under the capital gains tax provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act (ITAA).  The exceptions are 
gains on fixed interest securities and foreign exchange gains or losses to the superannuation business, which are 
taxed primarily under the ordinary income provisions. 

The gains and losses on the sale of investments to the extent referable to other taxable classes of business are taxed 
primarily under the ordinary income provisions, with the capital gains tax provisions potentially applying depending 
on the circumstance. 

In addition to sales made externally by the Company, transfers of non-cash assets between different classes of 
business within the Company (internal transfers) are immediately assessable by that class of business if a gain is 
generated.  Losses generated from internal transfers are not deductible within that class of business until the asset is 
sold externally by the Company. 

 
Allowable deductions include: 

 Complying superannuation business (VPST) – investment related expenses, cash transfers to the ordinary 
class of business. 

 
 Shareholder and ordinary life insurance business – acquisition costs in relation to investment related life, 

superannuation and other business, investment expenses, general management expenses, cash transfers to 
the VPST and SEA asset pools, capital component of ordinary premiums, risk business claims. 

 
Movements in relevant policy liabilities also may increase assessable income or increase allowable deductions.
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20. Income Tax (continued)  
  2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
(a) Income tax expense    
    

Current tax  53,706 42,800 
Deferred tax  (7,335) 6,674 
Under provision in prior years  375 717 
Total income tax expense  46,746 50,191 

    
    
(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to 

prima facie tax payable 
   

    
Profit before tax  122,629 161,671 
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2020: 30%)  36,789 48,501 
    
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/  
taxable in calculating taxable income: 

   

Franking credits  (1,044) (1,236) 
Non assessable unrealised gain on property  (745) - 
Exempted management fee income  (114) (41) 
Policyholder tax (benefit)/expense   7,642 (67) 
Fee income  3,779 2,317 
Non-deductible expenses  64 - 

  46,371 49,474 
    

Under provision in prior years  375 717 
    

Income tax expense  46,746 50,191 

 
 

 

(c) Temporary difference relating to investments in controlled entities  

As there is no intention of the Company to sell the investments in controlled entities, and it is expected that the 
controlled entities will remain in the tax consolidated group for the foreseeable future, the reversal of the 
temporary differences will have no income tax consequences for the Company.  The transactions between a 
tax consolidated subsidiary and its Parent, including the distribution of dividends from the subsidiary to the 
Parent, are not taken into account for income tax purposes.  Accordingly, the tax on Statement of Financial 
Position value of the investment in the controlled entities is equal to its accounting carrying value and no 
temporary difference exists.   

 

Tax consolidation legislation 

 ZFSA and the members of the tax consolidated group implemented the tax consolidation legislation on 1 
October 2003.  The accounting policy in relation to this legislation is set out in Note 1(i). 
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21.   Deferred Tax Asset 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:   
   
Deferred origination fees 157 225 
Difference in policy liability between accounting and tax (295) (17) 
Other provisions 1,539 1,766 
Loss recognition of disability policy liability 6,165 2,045 
 7,566 4,019 
   
Set off of deferred tax assets pursuant to set off provisions (Note 22) (7,566) (4,019) 
Net deferred tax asset - - 
   

 

 
22. Deferred Tax Liabilities 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:   
   
Deferred origination costs 306 440 
Other provisions (1,695) 135 
Unrealised gain on investments 21,120 21,565 
Value of Business Acquired 20,339 21,718 
 40,070 43,858 
   
Set off of deferred tax assets pursuant to set off provisions (Note 21) (7,566) (4,019) 
Net deferred tax liabilities 32,504 39,839 
   
Deferred Tax Liabilities Movements   
   
Opening balance at 1 January 39,839 33,165 
Charged to Statement of Comprehensive Income (Note 20(a))  (7,335) 6,674 
Closing balance at 31 December 32,504 39,839 
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23. Share Capital 
 

 2021 
No. of 

Shares 
’000 

2020 
No. of 
Shares 

’000 

2021 
$’000 

 
 

2020 
$’000 

 
 

     
Ordinary shares – fully paid 272,109 272,109 553,000 553,000 

 

Ordinary shares have no par value and entitle the holder to participate in the dividends and the proceeds on 
winding up of the Company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. 

 
During the year, the Company did not issue any ordinary shares to the parent (2020: $67,000,000 at $2 per 
share). 

 

(a) Capital risk management 

The Company manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern including 
compliance with capital requirements imposed by relevant legislation and the industry regulators, APRA and 
Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC). The Company aims to maintain capital beyond 
minimum requirements as described below.  

The capital structure of the Company consists of issued capital, reserves and retained earnings. The Company’s 
Capital and Investment Management Committee reviews the capital structure and makes recommendations to 
the Board on the appropriate level of capital. 

The Company is required by the Life Insurance Act 1995 to meet its regulatory capital requirement on a 
continuous basis and this drives the need for a buffer of additional capital known as “Target Surplus”. The 
Target Surplus is the target amount of assets to be held within the Company’s Shareholder and Statutory Funds 
in excess of the Prudential Capital Requirement such that the Company can continue to meet the Prudential 
Capital Requirement over the next 12 months at a confidence level of 97.5%. 
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24. Reconciliation of Profit after Income Tax to Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities  
 

  2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

    
Profit for the year  75,883 111,480 
Bonus credited to policyholder accounts  (42) (70) 
Repayment/(payment) of policy loans  (37) 1,143 
Net realised (gains)/losses on investments  (21,229) 30,382 
Net unrealised (gains)/losses on investments  (5,716) 6,352 
Amortisation of premiums and discounts  (12,073) (610) 
Deferred origination costs / deferred origination fees  2 3 
    
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:    
Outstanding premiums  (936) (1,275) 
Outstanding interest and dividends  3,816 (2,255) 
Other receivables  (26,673) 12,048 
Amortisation of intangible asset  4,597 4,597 
    
    
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:    
Deferred tax liability  (7,335) 6,675 
Premiums in advance  1,158 529 
Claims outstanding and other payables  13,656 3,870 
Other provisions and payables  9,673 19,076 
Vested/unvested policyholder benefits  (205) (986) 
Net policy liabilities  54,980 (63,331) 
    
Net cash inflow from operating activities  89,519 127,628  
    
    
Non-cash investing activities    
    
Distributions reinvested under reinvestment plans  88,198 67,385 
    
Total non-cash operating activities  88,198 67,385 
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25. Disaggregated Information for Statutory Funds and the Shareholder Fund 

(a) Statutory Fund Information 

The Company operates predominantly in the life insurance industry.  The principal activities of the Company are the underwriting of various classes of ordinary and superannuation 
life insurance and the investment of related funds.  The Company operates in one geographical area, being Australia.   

In accordance with the requirements of the Life Insurance Act 1995, the Company has established separate Statutory Funds to account for the different type of life insurance 
business written by the Company.  Details are as follows: 

 Type of Business Major Products 
Statutory Fund No 2 Non Investment Linked Ordinary and Superannuation Business Term Insurance 
  Income Protection Insurance 
  Total and Permanent Disablement Insurance 
  Trauma Insurance 
  Investment Account 
  Quality Life 
  Group Life 
  Group Salary Continuance 
  Participating and Non-Participating Whole of Life and Endowment Insurance 
  Term Certain and Lifetime Annuities 
Statutory Fund No 3 Investment Linked Ordinary and Superannuation Business Investment Linked Business Regular and Single Premiums 
  Allocated Pensions 

 



ZURICH AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
31 December 2021 
 

54 

 

25. Disaggregated Information for Statutory Funds and the Shareholder Fund (continued) 

(b) Abbreviated Statement of Comprehensive Income at Fund Level for the Year Ended 31 December 2021 

  Statutory Fund 
No.2 

 Statutory 
Fund No.3 

 Total Statutory 
Funds 

 Shareholder’s 
Funds 

  
Total 

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 
           
Insurance premium revenue  838,084  -  838,084  -  838,084 
Gross reinsurance expense  (321,525)  -  (321,525)  -  (321,525) 
Reinsurance commission  87,236    87,236    87,236 
Fees for management services rendered  -  13,959  13,959  -  13,959 
Investment revenue  16,721  147,315  164,036  (255)  163,781 
Other income  156  2,759  2,912  -  2,912 
Total revenue and other income  620,672  164,033  784,702  (255)  784,447 
           
Claims expense  (388,144)  -  (388,144)  -  (388,144) 
Reinsurance recoveries  194,087  -  194,087  -  194,087 
Operating expenses  (282,112)  (14,979)  (297,091)  (947)  (298,038) 
Net movement in policy liabilities  (27,299)  (137,827)  (165,126)  -  (165,126) 
Amortisation of intangible asset  -  -  -  (4,597)  (4,597)  
Total operating expenses  (503,468)  (152,806)   (656,274)  (5,544)  (661,818) 
           
Profit/(loss) before income tax  117,204  11,224  128,428  (5,799)  122,629 
           
Income tax benefit/(expense)  (37,979)  (10,443)  (48,422)  1,676  (46,746) 
           
Profit/(loss) for the year  79,225  781  80,006  (4,123)  75,883 
           
Appropriations:           
  -  Transfers to shareholder fund  (20,000)  -  (20,000)  20,000  - 
  -  Dividend  -  -  -  (20,000)  (20,000) 
Profit/(loss) after appropriations  59,225  781  60,006  (4,123)  55,883 
           

 

Statutory Fund No. 2 is wholly non-investment linked. 
Statutory Fund No. 3 is wholly investment linked.   
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25.  Disaggregated Information for Statutory Funds and the Shareholder Fund (continued) 

(c) Abbreviated Statement of Comprehensive Income at Fund Level for the Year Ended 31 December 2020 

  Statutory Fund 
No.2 

 Statutory Fund 
No.3 

 Total Statutory 
Funds 

 Shareholder’s 
Funds 

  
Total 

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 
           
Insurance premium revenue  773,561  -  773,561  -  773,561 
Gross reinsurance expense  (318,412)  -  (318,412)  -  (318,412) 
Reinsurance commission  103,005    103,005    103,005 
Fees for management services rendered  -  16,521  16,521  -  16,521 
Investment revenue  40,699  27,357  68,056  701  68,757 
Other income  153  2,508  2,661  -  2,661 
Total revenue and other income  599,006  46,386  645,392  701  646,093 
           
Claims expense  (316,221)  -  (316,221)  -  (316,221) 
Reinsurance recoveries  162,898  -  162,898  -  162,898 
Operating expenses  (255,878)  (16,170)  (272,048)  (2,319)  (274,367) 
Net movement in policy liabilities  (22,955)  (29,180)  (52,135)  -  (52,135) 
Amortisation of intangible asset  -  -  -  (4,597)  (4,597)  
Total operating expenses  (432,156)  (45,350)  (477,506)  (6,916)  (484,422) 
           
Profit/(loss) before income tax  166,850  1,036  167,886  (6,215)  161,671 
           
Income tax benefit/(expense)  (53,095)  1,040  (52,055)  1,864  (50,191) 
           
Profit/(loss) for the year  113,755  2,076  115,831  (4,351)  111,480 
           
Appropriations:           
  -  Transfers between funds  29,697  (29,697)  -  -  - 
Profit/(loss) after appropriations  143,452  (27,621)  115,831  (4,351)  111,480 
           

 

 
Statutory Fund No. 2 is wholly non-investment linked. 
Statutory Fund No. 3 is wholly investment linked. 
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25. Disaggregated Information for Statutory Funds and the Shareholder Fund (continued) 

(d) Abbreviated Statement of Financial Position at Fund Level as at 31 December 2021 

      
  

Statutory 
Fund No.2 

 
Statutory 

Fund No.3 

Total 
Statutory 

Funds 

 
Shareholder’s 

Fund 

 
 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
      
Cash and cash equivalents 59,416 90,950 150,366 2,108 152,474 
Other financial assets 1,349,064 975,839 2,324,903 31,034 2,355,937 
Gross policy liabilities ceded under reinsurance 549,122 - 549,122 - 549,122 
Other assets 93,364 5,195 98,559 191 98,750 
Intangible assets - - - 261,179 261,179 
Total assets 2,050,966 1,071,984 3,122,950 294,512 3,417,462 
      
      
Gross policy liabilities – insurance contracts 570,948 - 570,948 - 570,948 
Gross policy liabilities – investment contracts 952 1,049,156 1,050,108 - 1,050,108 
Unvested policyholder benefits 22,169 - 22,169 - 22,169 
Other liabilities 130,220 3,372 133,592 21,952 155,544 
Total liabilities 724,289 1,052,528 1,776,817 21,952 1,798,769 
      
Net assets 1,326,677 19,456 1,346,133 272,560 1,618,693 

      
      
Shareholder’s equity       
  - Reserves - - - (3,185) (3,185) 
  - Share capital - - - 553,000 553,000 
  - Transfer of capital 289,319 - 289,319 (289,319) - 
  - Shareholder’s retained profits (Aust par) 5,543 - 5,543 - 5,543 
  - Shareholder’s retained profits (Aust non par) 1,031,815 19,456 1,051,271 12,064 1,063,336 
Total equity 1,326,677 19,456 1,346,133 272,560 1,618,693 

 
 

 
Statutory Fund No. 2 is wholly non-investment linked. 
Statutory Fund No. 3 is wholly investment linked. 
The amounts are presented at gross basis. 
The Life Act permits the transfer of capital to/from and between Statutory Funds subject to the requirements of the 
Solvency and Capital Adequacy provisions of the Life Act. The amounts of any such transfers from the 
Shareholder Fund to the Statutory Funds are recorded as Capital Payments to the Life Insurance Funds and form 
part of the Shareholder’s Interest in the net worth of the Life Insurance Funds. 
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25.     Disaggregated Information for Statutory Funds and the Shareholder Fund (continued) 

(e)  Abbreviated Statement of Financial Position at Fund Level as at 31 December 2020 

      
  

Statutory 
Fund No.2 

 
Statutory 

Fund No.3 

Total 
Statutory 

Funds 

 
Shareholder’s 

Fund 

 
 

Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
      
Cash and cash equivalents 92,485 56,215 148,700 2,460 151,160 
Other financial assets 1,234,876 980,141 2,215,017 33,924 2,248,941 
Gross policy liabilities ceded under reinsurance 555,681 - 555,681 - 555,681 
Other assets 74,282 8,224 82,506 190 82,696 
Intangible assets - - - 265,776 265,776 
Total assets 1,957,324 1,044,580 3,001,904 302,350 3,304,254 
      
      
Gross policy liabilities – insurance contracts 549,168 - 549,168 - 549,168 
Gross policy liabilities – investment contracts 1,753 1,021,714 1,023,467 - 1,023,467 
Unvested policyholder benefits 22,416 - 22,416 - 22,416 
Other liabilities 116,534 4,191 120,725 23,575 144,300 
Total liabilities 689,871 1,025,905 1,715,776 23,575 1,739,351 
      
Net assets 1,267,453 18,675 1,286,128 278,775 1,564,903 
      
      
Shareholder’s equity      
  - Reserves - - - (1,092) (1,092) 
  - Share capital - - - 553,000 553,000 
  - Transfer of capital 289,319 - 289,319 (289,319) - 
  - Shareholder’s retained profits (Aust par) 5,604 - 5,604 - 5,604 
  - Shareholder’s retained profits (Aust non par)  972,530 18,675 991,205 16,186 1,007,391 
Total equity 1,267,453 18,675 1,286,128 278,775 1,564,903 
      

 

 
Statutory Fund No. 2 is wholly non-investment linked. 
Statutory Fund No. 3 is wholly investment linked. 
The amounts are presented at gross basis. 
The Life Act permits the transfer of capital to/from and between Statutory Funds subject to the requirements of the 
Solvency and Capital Adequacy provisions of the Life Act. The amounts of any such transfers from the 
Shareholder Fund to the Statutory Funds are recorded as Capital Payments to the Life Insurance Funds and form 
part of the Shareholder’s Interest in the net worth of the Life Insurance Funds. 
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25. Disaggregated Information for Statutory Funds and the Shareholder Fund (continued) 

(f) Life Insurance Act Operating Profit and Retained Profits for the year ended 31 December 2021 

  
Statutory 
Fund No.2  

Statutory 
Fund No.3  

Total 
Statutory 

Funds 
  $’000  $’000  $’000 

       
Life Insurance Act operating profit after tax  81,995  781  82,776 
       
Allocated to       
- Policyholders  2,771  -  2,771 
- Shareholders  79,224  781  80,005 
  81,995  781  82,776 
       
       
Policyholder retained profits at start of year  22,416  -  22,416 
Operating profit allocated  2,771  -  2,771  
Bonuses to policyholders  (3,018)  -  (3,018)  
Policyholder retained profits at end of year  22,169  -  22,169  
       
       
Shareholder’s retained profits (Aust participating) at start of year  5,604  -  5,604 
Operating profits allocated  693  -  693 
Transfer to Shareholder’s retained profits (non-participating)  (754)  -  (754) 

Shareholder’s retained profits (Aust participating) at end of year  5,543  -  5,543 

       
Shareholder’s retained profits (non-participating) at start of the year   972,530  18,675  991,205 
Operating profits allocated  78,531  781  79,312 
Transfer to Shareholders’ Fund  (20,000)  -  (20,000) 
Transfer from Shareholder’s retained profits (Aust participating)  754  -  754 
Shareholder’s retained profits (non-participating) at end of year  1,031,815  19,456  1,051,271 
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25. Disaggregated Information for Statutory Funds and the Shareholder Fund (continued) 

   (g) Life Insurance Act Operating Profit and Retained Profits for the year ended 31 December 2020 

  
Statutory 

Fund No.2  
Statutory 

Fund No.3  

Total 
Statutory 

Funds 
  $’000  $’000  $’000 

       
Life Insurance Act operating profit after tax  115,651  2,076  117,727 
       
Allocated to       
- Policyholders  1,896  -  1,896 
- Shareholders  113,755  2,076  115,831 
  115,651  2,076  117,727 
       
       
Policyholder retained profits at start of year  23,472  -  23,472 
Operating profit allocated  1,896  -  1,896 
Bonuses to policyholders  (2,952)  -  (2,952) 
Policyholder retained profits at end of year  22,416  -  22,416 
       
       
Shareholder’s retained profits (Aust participating) at start of year  5,868  -  5,868 
Operating profits allocated  474  -  474 
Transfers to Shareholder’s Fund  (738)  -  (738) 
Shareholder’s retained profits (Aust participating) at end of year  5,604  -  5,604 

       
Shareholder’s retained profits (non-participating) at start of the year  828,814  46,296  875,110 
Operating profits allocated  113,281  2,076  115,357 
Transfer to Shareholders’ Fund  29,697  (29,697)  - 
Transfer from Shareholders’ retained profits (Aust participating)  738  -  738 
Shareholder’s retained profits (non-participating) at end of year  972,530  18,675  991,205 
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26. Contingencies 

Contingent liabilities for which no provision has been made in the financial statements: 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

   
Loan guarantees (5,000) (5,000) 
Warranties and indemnities - (2,500) 
 (5,000) (7,500) 

 

Loan guarantees 
Loan guarantees mainly relate to a subordinated loan facility provided by the Company to its controlled entity, Zurich 
Investment Management Limited (ZIM) (see Note 17), largely to meet the Australian Financial Services Licence 
requirements. 

Warranties and indemnities 
Indemnity for breach of vendor warranties in share sale agreement of Zurich Australian Superannuation Pty Limited 
(ZAS) to EQT Holdings Ltd from 21st March 2019 to 21st March 2021. 

 

27. Remuneration of Auditors  

 
 

 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Remuneration for audit or review of the financial reports of 
the Company: 

   

    
Statutory audit fees  366,315 388,413 

  366,315 388,413 
 
Remuneration for other services: 

 
  

Advisory service  - 9,000 
Other regulatory and assurance services  82,485 89,199 
  82,485 98,199 

 

* Ernst & Young Australia (EY) replaced PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia (PwC) as the Auditor of the Company 
on 27 July 2021. The 2021 fees were paid to EY and 2020 comparatives were paid to PwC. 

 

28. Restrictions on Assets and Managed Assets 

Investments held in the Life Statutory Funds must comply with the restrictions imposed under the Life Insurance Act 
1995.   

The main restrictions are that the assets in a Fund can only be used to meet the liabilities and expenses of that Fund, to 
acquire investments to further the business of the Fund or as distributions when solvency and capital adequacy 
requirements are met. Participating policyholders can receive a distribution when solvency requirements are met, whilst 
shareholders can only receive a distribution when the higher levels of capital adequacy requirements are met. 

 



ZURICH AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
31 December 2021 
 

61 

 

29. Related Parties 

(a)  Directors 

The names of persons who were directors of the Company at any time during the financial year are as follows: 

   
Name Appointment date Resignation date 
Paul Bedbrook 1 April 2012  
John Howell 31 October 2016 12 April 2021 
Nicolette Rubinsztein 31 May 2019  
Gabrielle Trainor 31 May 2019  
Gavin Pearce 31 May 2019 28 May 2021 
Justin Delaney 1 December 2019  
John Mulcahy 1 January 2020  
Tulsi Naidu 1 January 2022  
Geoffrey Summerhayes 
 

17 January 2022  

   
 
(b) Key Management Personnel Compensation 

Key management personnel compensation for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is set out below.  

The key management personnel are all the directors of the Company and their compensation is paid by ZFSA. The 
amount disclosed below reflects the total compensation paid/attributable to the key management personnel in their duties 
as employees of ZFSA and or directors of various entities. The executive directors’ compensation is not able to be 
allocated to the individual entities whose affairs they manage or control. 

 Notes 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

 

     
Short term employee benefits  1,981,464 2,363,057  
Termination benefits  129,994 -  
Share-based payments / benefits (i) 783,807 513,906 * 

  2,895,265 2,876,963  
 

(i) Share based payments / benefits 
The Global Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) is an executive incentive plan administered globally by a central share-
holding vehicle. ZFSA purchases the right to shares from this holding vehicle for Australian resident executives who 
participate in the plan.  When shares vest with the participants, the central share vehicle transfers those shares directly 
to the participants.  ZFSA does not bear any exchange or price risk in relation to payments for these rights to shares.   

* Comparative information has been restated to align with current year calculations. 
  

(c) Controlling Entities 

The ultimate controlling entity is Zurich Insurance Group Ltd (incorporated in Switzerland).  The ultimate Australian 
controlling entity is ZFSA and is incorporated in Australia.  

(d) Resource Fees 

The ultimate Australian holding company, ZFSA, and its wholly owned subsidiary Zurich Services (Australia) Pty 
Limited, provide resources the Company requires to conduct its business.  The Company has been charged a resource 
fee of $130,388,694 (2020: $124,421,301) in respect of these activities in accordance with the provisions of The 
Resources Deed dated 29 May 2019.   

(e) Subordinated Loans 

The Company provided subordinated loan guarantees to its controlled entity, ZIM, refer to Note 26. 
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29. Related Parties (continued) 

(f)  Aggregate amounts receivable from related entities at balance date 

  2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Current    
Ultimate controlling entity   795,158 307,767 
Controlled entities  764,816 - 
Other related entities  29,183 - 
Intercompany receivables from related entities  1,589,158 307,767 
Loan to ultimate controlling entity  70,000,000 - 
  71,589,158 307,767 
 

(g) Aggregate amounts payable to related entities at balance date  

 
Current 

   

Ultimate controlling entity  31,969 77 
Controlling entity  5,653,235 795,469 
Controlled entities  - 66,685 
Other related entities  105,163 2,862,928 
Intercompany payable to related entities  5,790,367 3,725,159 
Intercompany payable to head tax entity  51,557,812 42,109,074 
  57,348,179 45,834,233 

 

(h) Aggregate amounts recognised in respect of the following types of transactions and each class of related party 
involved  

Reinsurance premium expense Ultimate controlling entity 12,493,384 12,934,504 

Reinsurance claims received (net of 
commissions) 

Ultimate controlling entity 5,767,181 8,966,775 

Loan advanced to Ultimate controlling entity 70,000,000 - 

Receipt of proceeds from issue of shares Ultimate Controlling entity - 67,000,000 

Payment of dividend Controlling entity 20,000,000 - 

Payment of management fees Controlling entity 130,388,694 124,421,301 

 Controlled entity 2,254,769 2,093,703 

 Other related entities 889,927 690,051 

Unrealised gain on shares  Other related entities 1,580,046 1,577,148 

Payment of other expenses Ultimate Controlling entity  2,917 - 

 Other related entities - 596 

                         

The above transactions were made on commercial terms and conditions and at market rates.  

Interests held in controlled entities and associates are included in Notes 17 and 18. 
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30. Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets were recognised as a result of the acquisition of the life risk insurance business from Macquarie Life 
Limited from 1st October 2016.  

 Value of 
Business 

Acquired 

 
 

Goodwill 

 
 

Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 

    

Opening net book amount as at 1 January 2021 72,390 193,386 265,776 

Amortisation expense (4,597) - (4,597)  

Closing net book amount as at 31 December 2021 67,793 193,386 261,179 
 

Cost 91,926 193,386 285,312 

Accumulated amortisation (24,133) - (24,133)  

Closing balance as at 31 December 2021 67,793 193,386 261,179 

    

    

Opening net book amount as at 1 January 2020 76,987 193,386 270,373 

Amortisation expense (4,597) - (4,597)  

Closing net book amount as at 31 December 2020 72,390 193,386 265,776 

    

Cost 91,926 193,386 285,312 

Accumulated amortisation (19,536) - (19,536)  

Closing balance as at 31 December 2020 72,390 193,386 265,776 

   

      

31. Events Occurring After Reporting Date 

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2021 that has significantly affected the Company’s 
operations, results or state of affairs, or may do so in future years.
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In the directors’ opinion: 
 

(a) The financial statements and notes set out on pages 5 to 63 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including: 

 
(i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and the Life Insurance Act 

1995; and 
 

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2021 and of its 
performance, as represented by the results of its operations, changes in equity and its cash flows, for 
the financial year ended on that date; and 

 
 

(b) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable. 

 

Note 1 confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board. 

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

 

 

 

 

__________________________________ __________________________________ 

P J Bedbrook N L Rubinsztein 
Chairman Director 

 

 

 Sydney 
 23 March 2022 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Zurich Australia Limited  

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Zurich Australia Limited (the Company), which comprises the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ 
declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Company is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 

a. Giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2021 and of its 
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and 

b. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information is the directors’ report 
accompanying the financial report. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

► Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

► Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  

► Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  

► Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

► Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
 
 
 
 
 
David Jewell 
Partner 
Sydney 
23 March 2022 
 




